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Foreword 
This report has been developed in line with local laws 
and regulatory requirements. Our website 
www.alafco.com provides access to all latest reports 
and investor presentations. The following report has 
been produced with simplicity at the forefront of our 
minds.  
 
This report provides detailed disclosures relating to 
our Corporate Social Responsibility activities and 
engagements, including details of our report from the 
Sharia’a supervisory board on ensuring activities fall 
in line with Islamic principles and practices. 
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As a reminder 

Reporting Currency 
We use KD (Kuwaiti Dinars). 
 
Unless otherwise stated, all figures in this report relate to Group. 
 
The company’s registered office is Third Floor, Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
Building, Abdul Aziz Al Sager street, Al Qibla, Kuwait City – Kuwait 
PO BOX 2255 Safat 13023, Kuwait 
The Company’s telephone number is +965 2290 2888 

http://www.alafco.com/
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Chairman 
statement  

 

In the name of Allah most gracious, most merciful 

It has been another successful year for ALAFCO.  Our 
business continues to demonstrate considerable 
strength and flexibility as we continue to deliver value 
for our shareholders. I remain extremely positive 
about the future of this great business, despite the 
wider global challenges that are being placed on many 
businesses. 

During the past year, there has been a 
renewed focus on building on our success and shaping 
our strategy to meet industry demand, which is 
forecasted to double over the next two decades. Core 
to our success is our team and the strong foundations 
that have been previously embedded.   

I am pleased to announce that this year’s 
results represent another significant milestone for 
ALAFCO. These results come in the wake of some 
challenging headwinds. We have seen advanced 
economies showing signs of divergence, tightening of 
financial conditions due to slower economic growth in 
countries such China, volatility in oil prices as the 
market balances production with oversupply and the 
changing political landscapes across the US and Europe 
- all of which are contributing factors likely to impair 
growth.  

Our results and operating highlights therefore 
are a source of immense pride, however, that does not 
mean we are to be complacent. We foresee tougher 
challenges over the next 12 months, but I remain 
confident that we are entering this period from a 
position of strength. 
 
Our culture and values 
The Board, and I feel, we have the right balance of 
skills, experience and backgrounds to support the 
challenges the management team are expected to 
face. We will continue to support, oversee and govern 
ALAFCO in alignment with the expectations of our 
shareholders. 

 Ordinarily, ALAFCO continues to expand its 
team as we aim to meet the challenging pipeline that 
awaits us, recognizing the important role our staff play 
in our success.  

Our culture and people remain at the forefront of our 
future. We continue to empower, develop and support 
our people through creating a culture of openness, 
honesty and integrity.  ALAFCO and its people will 
remain integral to the company’s success, providing 
the foundations for driving better results. 
 
Our community 
I am pleased and delighted to see our continuing 
involvement and commitment to local communities. 

We have a duty to support and create a safety 
net for those that are less fortunate. In 2018, ALAFCO 
undertook and supported several initiatives, from 
mentorship to charitable donations made to local 
charities. Our partnership with the Kuwaiti Red 
Crescent Society (KRCS) continues to remain essential 
to our commitment to supporting the needs of local 
communities. ALAFCO is regularly involved in 
identifying community projects with the aim of giving 
back and supporting those less fortunate. 

 I am immensely proud of our work and the 
support we continue to offer local communities. 
Further details of our Corporate Social Responsibility 
initiatives can be found in the CSR section of this 
report. 
 
2018 headwinds 
In 2018, we have seen lease rates continue to soften 
and reciprocate trends seen at the latter stages of 
2016.  Growing competition in the leasing space and 
the pressure of higher fuel prices and interest rates on 
airlines continue to stifle demand for new technology 
aircraft in the short run.    

We remain cognizant of global factors and the 
impact they are likely to have on our ability to place 
aircraft in the future.  We continue to adopt a 
pragmatic risk culture with the aim of achieving 
sustainable revenue under potential challenging 
circumstances. 
 
Our Performance 
2018 saw ALAFCO continue to demonstrate strong 
performance. Our results are a testament to that. The 
Board and I, are delighted with the results considering 
the many challenges the company and the industry has 
faced over the past 12 months.  

We continue to achieve our financial targets 
again showing healthy net profit, and a strong capital 
position. Net profit reached KD 33.17 million in 2018 
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(2017: KD 32.8 million) improving on last year’s results. 
The company continued to capitalize on emerging 
trends and opportunities to identify attractive high 
yields in a challenging environment, which are 
demonstrated by our strong financials. 
 
Looking forward 
2019 presents a whole set of new challenges for 
ALAFCO, driven by changing market dynamics. We are 
expected to witness some oversupply, OEM delays and 
slightly weaker demand in the short term contributing 
to an increased likelihood of lease rate remaining soft 
in the near term. Our emphasis is to use the strong 
foundations that we have embedded to navigate the 
multiple stressors that are likely to impact the industry 
over the coming 12 months. 

 We shall continue to operate from a position 
of strength, to capitalize on opportunities across the 
industry. I have no doubt and equally confident that 
with the wealth of experience and skills we possess, 
and the dedication of our people we will come through 
the challenges stronger and better.  I retain a strong 
conviction of the skills, commitment and experiences 
of my colleagues to adapt and deliver for our 
customers and our shareholders, irrespective of the 
challenges that we may face. 

 
 

Barrak Abdulmohsen Barrak Al-Sabeeh 
Chairman 
9 January 2019 
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Chief Executive  
Officer’s review 
 
In the name of Allah most gracious, most merciful 

Overview 
ALAFCO delivered a strong financial performance in 
2018. We are making good progress towards building 
a world-class aircraft lessor.  

Our relentless focus on performance and 
competitiveness, enabled us to grow our revenue, 
assets and profits. Revenue from operating leases 
alone in 2018 was KD 95.6 million compared to KD 81.3 
million in 2017. Similarly, net profits of KD 33.2 million 
was realized compared to KD 32.8 million in 2017. 
Additionally, we saw our asset base grow again, with a 
total asset value of KD 1.1 billion. Considering the 
challenging market conditions and prevailing 
headwinds, these results demonstrate exceptional 
performance. Our pragmatism, and well refined 
strategy has enabled ALAFCO to seek high yields and 
opportunities that continue to deliver success. 

ALAFCO has made significant strides in placing 
its new aircraft. The current year has seen us place 
aircraft with several leading airline operators, most 
notably the flag carrier of Poland LOT Polish. It was also 
a first for ALAFCO, as we placed seven of our A320NEO 
aircraft in Latin America with Sky Airways. I am 
delighted and encouraged to see ALAFCO demonstrate 
its strength and flexibility across international borders, 
and the diversification of our aircraft placement in 
Europe and Latin America is testament to this.  

 In addition to the placement of aircraft, we 
have been active in our divestment strategy where we 
have divested a total of 16 aircraft in the current year. 
Divestment remains an integral part of our strategy, 
and our results over the past 12 months maintains a 
healthy balance of maintaining a young, high yielding 
aircraft portfolio. 

Our shareholders remain at the forefront our 
strategy, and therefore we continue to seek 
opportunities to maximize our potential and the 
returns for our shareholders. 

In line with our results, our dividends for 2018 
were declared at 10 fils per share. We now enter the 
thirteenth year of consistent dividend payouts to our 

shareholders, as we continue to embark on the 
successful execution of our strategy and growth 
ambitions. 

 
Corporate governance 
We continue to advocate and promote the importance 
of good corporate governance practices across the 
organization. Having a solid governance framework is 
the key to building trust and transparency, and to this 
effect ALAFCO has worked rigorously in strengthening 
our processes throughout the Group.  

Our business shall continue to reinforce our 
obligations to corporate governance and has made 
significant strides in the last year to further enhance 
our practices and framework. It is of paramount 
importance that we continue operate in an 
environment with robust internal controls, and strict 
compliance with the rules and regulations of Kuwait, to 
which the Executive management team and the Board 
ensure complete integrity of the financial statements. 

 
Aircraft orderbook 
  In 2018, we successfully placed the majority of 
our 2019 deliveries and made significant progress in 
placing a considerable proportion of the 2020 
deliveries. Higher competition, worsening economic 
conditions and signs of oversupply has made 
placement of aircraft extremely challenging, and 
therefore the progress we have made fills me with 
immense pride.  

We have achieved one of our core strategic 
priorities of expanding our global footprint by placing 
seven new aircraft in Latin America, despite the 
challenges presented by the market, I am also 
delighted to see our flexibility in our approach, 
reflected by placing aircraft in Europe – an inherently 
tough and highly competitive market to place aircraft. 

We continue to extend our operations and our 
relationships which will give us a solid footing for the 
future. Our ability to place aircraft from our orderbook 
shall continue to support our growth ambitions as we 
enter the next decade. 
   
Industry challenges and outlook 
We continue to witness a growing appetite for aircraft 
leasing and expect strong and sustainable growth in 
aircraft leasing over the next decade. More 
importantly demand for single-aisle aircraft is where 
we see potential, and for this reason the cornerstone 
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of our strategy is to focus on the placement of narrow 
body aircraft. Our orderbook, consisting primarily of 
narrow body aircraft, is due to deliver over the next 
five years, giving ALAFCO the platform to continue to 
pursue its growth ambitions. 
  This last year, whilst successful, was not 
without its challenges. We expect these challenges to 
persist over the short term, as economic uncertainty 
continues to grip global markets. Higher interest rates, 
and oil price volatility shall continue to place a burden 
on airlines – which may impact fleet commitments. 
Also, higher competition in the aviation leasing space, 
particularly from China will continue to squeeze 
margins. However, with recent signs of an economic 
slowdown in China, we do expect several entities 
scaling back their operations – creating opportunities 
in the market. 
  We do envisage tougher trading conditions 
over the next 12 months, however, we remain 
steadfast and optimistic that we have the right 
resources to execute our strategy. Our focus shall 
remain on placing our orderbook, at the same time 
seeking to find the right divestment opportunities to 
ensure we are able to optimize our aircraft portfolio.  

We have continued to invest in our staff. It’s 
the talent, ingenuity and dedication of our people, and 
the progress we have made in the past year, which 
gives me great confidence for our future. 

Our achievements over the past 12 months, 
considering the challenging trading conditions are a 
testament to our people. We shall continue to deliver 
as we know best, ensuring our shareholders, 
customers, and community continue to benefit from 
our efforts. 

 
 
 

Ahmad A. Alzabin 
Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
9 January 2019
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Financial review 2018 
 

 
Overview 
The current financial year, ending 30 September 
2018, saw ALAFCO deliver another set of excellent 
results. We witnessed growth in net profit and 
revenue, in addition to growing our customer 
network with the placement of new aircraft to leading 
international carriers.  Securing these new 
placements continues to support our growth 
objectives, as we seek to achieve sustainable revenue 
going forward.   

ALAFCO’s net profit increased by 1.2% to KD 33.2 
million (2017: KD 32.8 million), with earnings per share 
edging marginally higher to 34.9 Fils (2017: 34.5 Fils). The 
Board of Directors have proposed a dividend of 10 Fils, 
consistent with previous years. 

 
Financial performance1 

KD Millions  2017 2018 

Total Revenue 113.8 126.4 

Operating Expenses 63.8 68.8 

Net Profit 32.8 33.2 

Total Assets 1,076.3 1,123.4 

Total Equity 286.7 311.4 

 
Net profit of KD 33.2 million, was driven by higher 
income from lease revenue, and sale of new and used 
aircraft with lease attached. Income from lease revenue 
continued to support our growth objectives, with much 
of the additional lease revenue in the current year 
culminating from the lease of our new aircraft. 

 ALAFCO’s total assets grew by 4.4% to KD 
1,123.4 million (2017: KD 1,076.3 million). Asset growth 
is underpinned by the unwinding of our aircraft 
orderbook.  Operating revenue has also continued to 
grow. The current year saw a 17.7% growth in operating 
revenue to KD 95.7 Million, compared to KD 81.3 million 
recorded in the previous year. With the growth in assets 
and profit, shareholder equity grew by 8.6% in 2018. 
The continued growth in shareholder equity, is 
supported by strong fundamentals, and ALAFCO’s 
continued pursuit of achieving strong yields on its 
operating leases. 

                                                           
1 Figures rounded to 1 decimal place 

In line with ALAFCO’s five-year strategy, the company 
continued its active divestment program. The current 
year saw ALAFCO divest 16 aircraft from its portfolio, 
which was directly accretive to the bottom line.  

ALAFCO continued its growth in major 
markets, and diversified its portfolio geographically, in 
effect reducing our exposure to any single region. The 
Company’s continued efforts to place aircraft, have 
seen our exposure to Europe increase, in addition to 
expanding for the very first time our presence in Latin 
America.  

 
Operating Performance: Major markets 
Asia Pacific, Europe and Middle East continue to be 
the most valuable markets for ALAFCO. Highest 
proportion of the company’s lease revenue continues 
to be driven from lessees across these regions.  Over 
the past 12 months, ALAFCO has continued to expand 
its reach with the placement of seven aircraft with a 
leading Low-Cost Carrier in Chile, and the placement 
of six aircraft with a leading European airline. 

Our diversification falls in line with our 
strategy, where we continue to enrich our aircraft 
portfolio with high yielding, and creditworthy lessees. 
Diversification, and expansion through a rigorous 
internal risk management process ensures that we are 
well positioned to benefit from sustainable revenue 
from our lessees and maintain its competitive 
strength.   

ALAFCO expects to increase its presence in 
markets where we are underrepresented whilst 
actively managing its aircraft portfolio through a 
combination of diversification and divestment. 

 
Outlook 

Our financial position remains strong. In 2018, 
we have shown growth in revenue, profit and assets.  
As we continue to focus on implementing our 
strategy, ALAFCO will expect to maintain a strong 
balance sheet. Current market developments are 
likely to impact operations over the coming year. 
However, despite these strong headwinds, driven by 
exogenous factors – we are well positioned to 
continue seeking opportunities that allow ALAFCO to 
effectively manage its orderbook and its existing 
aircraft portfolio. 
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Our business model 
 
 

ALAFCO exists with a purpose to connect the world. We provide airlines with the necessary equipment needed for aiding 
transportation across the world. We also work closely with lessors to maximize our aircraft portfolio. 

 

We have a distinctive approach. It defines and differentiates us…. 

Values 
Our Values are at the heart 
of how we do business. They 
define how we must operate: 

• Integrity 

• Community 

• Ethical 

• Innovation 

• Commitment 

Strength 
We possess many strengths 
as a business, many of them 
giving us a competitive 
advantage: 

• Financial Strength 

• Global presence  

• Expertise 

• Strong brand 

• Flexibility 

 

Skills 
Our range of skills enable us 
to deliver results: 

• Aircraft management 

• Risk management 

• Relationship management 

• Customer service 

• Innovation 

 

Strategy 
Our strategic framework 
focuses on things that matter 
most to ensure that we build 
sustainable growth: 

• Grow global presence 

• Engender stakeholder trust 

• Financial resilience 

• Building World class 
practices 

 

…through our simple products, services and markets in which we operate…. 

Operating Lease 
Placement of new or existing 
aircraft on long term leases. 

Sale and Leaseback 
Acquiring aircraft from 
established carriers and 
leasing them back. 

Portfolio acquisition 
Procuring aircraft or a 
portfolio of aircraft with 
existing leases. 

 

Divestment 
Managing our aircraft portfolio 
by divesting and selling aircraft 
as and when needed. 

 

…. Providing long-term predictable and sustainable cash flows to be reinvested…. 
 

Operating leases are placed 
with customers on long-term 
basis, generally between 8-
12 years.  

We buy the aircraft from 
carriers and then lease the 
aircraft back on a long-term 
lease. Upon maturity, we 
exercise the right to place 
the aircraft or sell the 
aircraft. 

We buy aircraft from the 
market with leases already 
attached. Access to wider 
range of customers, enables 
opportunity to access new 
markets and new customers 

 

Managing our portfolio to its 
optimum through our active 
strategy of identifying aircraft 
to divest. Purpose is to reduce 
risk exposure and to seek 
profitable opportunities. 

…. creating sustainable value for. 

We create value for 
Shareholders by using our 
profits to reinvest and grow 
the business and pay out 
dividends 

 

Customers benefit from our 
product offering that meets 
their needs in addition to 
our experience in the 
market 

Our people continue to play a 
crucial role in growing the 
business, using their potential 
and skills to exceed 
expectations. 

We play a significant role in our 
communities, including as a 
major employer and long-term 
investor 

10 Fils 
Dividend declared for 2018  

20 
Customers across 13 countries 

 

>50% 
Increase in staff headcount since 
2012 

KD 15K 
Community projects supported in 
2018 
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Key performance  
Indicators 
 

We use a range of financial and non-financial metrics to measure our operational performance, financial strength, and 
our impact on society. We continue to use a range of metrics to determine our performance over the last financial 
year. 
 

Total Assets 

Our Assets continue to grow.  In the current year total assets 
grew by 4% YoY. Successful placement of new aircraft, and 
acquisition of aircraft through SLB transactions have ensured 
that our aircraft portfolio and total assets continue to grow at 
a steady pace, in line with our expectations.  

2018: 

KD 1,123.4 million 
 

2017: KD 1,076.3 million 
2016: KD 852.6 million 

Operating Revenue 

Operating revenue grew by 17.7% YoY. Operating revenue 
contributed 76% of total revenue. The higher revenue from 
operating leases can be attributed to the onset of new leases 
which have been placed from the orderbook, in addition to the 
SLB deal with Kuwait Airways.  

2018: 

KD 95.7 million 
 

2017: KD 81.3 million 
2016: KD 69.2 million 

Aircraft fleet 

Our fleet size stood at 60 aircraft. This consisted of Airbus and 
Boeing manufactured aircraft only. The portfolio size has fallen 
in numbers compared to the previous year due to divestment 
program undertaken to re-balance our portfolio and maintain 
a younger fleet of aircraft. 

2018: 

60 Aircraft 
 

2017: 67 Aircraft 
2016: 53 Aircraft 

Net Profit 

Net profit increased by over 1% from KD 32.8 million to KD 
33.2 million. Combination of aircraft sales, and new operating 
leases have contributed to higher profits in the current year. 
Our profits, have continued to demonstrate strong demand for 
our assets across the leasing sector. 

2018: 

KD 33.2 million 
 

2017: KD 32.8 million 
2016: KD 14.1 million 

Equity  

Total equity increased by 8.6%, to reach KD 311.4 million. As of 
2018, total equity represented 28% of total assets. The company 
continues to maintain a strong equity position, with debt to 
equity maintained below 2.3.1 throughout the year - slight 
increase from previous year due to higher finance requirements. 

2018: 

KD 311.4 million 
 

2017: KD 286.7 million 
2016: KD 258.1 million 
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Aircraft acquisition value 

We completed a total of KD 234.1 million in aircraft 
acquisitions in 2018. Our aircraft acquisitions included SLB, 
and placement of new aircraft from our orderbook. Total 
transactional value fell compared to the previous year, 
primarily as ALAFCO shifted its focus to the placement of its 
orderbook. 

2018: 

KD 234.1 million 
 

2017: KD 326.9 million 
2016: KD 186.4 million 

Financing raised 

We continued to raise financing, a total of KD 283.2 million 
was raised in 2018. Financing was raised from multiple 
lenders globally. Increased level of debt financing is reflective 
of our ambitious growth plans, and more notably our ability 
to arrange secured financing for new aircraft deliveries from 
our orderbook.  

2018: 

KD 283.2 million 
 

2017: KD 228.8 million 
2016: KD 133.8million 

Average Fleet Age 

In line with our strategy, which is to maintain a young fleet, 
the company continues to maintain a young aircraft portfolio 
consummate with the industry. The average age of our fleet 
in 2018 was recorded at 5.6 years, lower than the average 
age of the fleet maintained in 2017.  

2018: 

5.6 Years 
 

2017: 6.0 Years  
2016: 6.2 Years 

 

 

 

 
  



ALAFCO K.S.C.P Annual report and accounts 2018                         

  11 

Looking forward 
 
Global Economic Overview 
We continue to see volatility in growth and divergence 
among leading economies. However, despite this 
volatility we expect global growth to remain strong 
over the medium to long term. The current year has 
been challenging for several reasons; economic 
divergence among leading economies, political 
instability, oil price volatility and currency devaluation 
of several emerging market countries. 
  These matters continue to weigh down 
expectations and has seen a slight dip in GDP in leading 
economies, other than the U.S which continues to 
demonstrate strong growth. Economic recovery 
remains fragile, and we are expecting to see 
heightened risk of trade wars, protectionism and 
uncertainty to permeate across global markets, which 
may dampen investor and consumer sentiment. 

Interest rates and oil prices have continued 
their upward trajectory. Higher interest rates are 
reflective of a stronger U.S economy, leading to 
increases in Fed rates by the U.S Federal reserve. As a 
result, dollar denominated debts have become more 
expensive, and has led to higher inflation and 
devaluation of currencies in many countries. Similarly, 
volatile oil prices continue to impact major oil 
importing nations such as China and India. 

We expect global markets to encounter strong 
headwinds over short term, largely driven by ongoing 
trade disputes and diverging economies, which is likely 
to create further uncertainty and potential slowdown 
in activity. 
 
Aviation Industry 
We continue to witness an increase in air traffic growth 
in emerging markets. Higher disposable incomes, and a 
growth in Middle classes across leading Asian countries 
are projected to see air traffic double, over the next 
two decades. A higher proliferation of LCC’s and 
enhanced connectivity has improved infrastructure in 
leading Asia Pacific countries such as China and India, 
also a major factor driving air traffic across the region. 

Air travel demand across Asia Pacific continues 
to show positive momentum and it is where we expect 
to see significant growth over the medium to long term. 

                                                           
2 Boeing Current Market Outlook (2018-2037) 

The increase in air travel demand has continued even 
though global economic growth has lagged the long-
term average in recent years. The Asia-Pacific region, 
already the leading aviation market, will remain 
integral to the growth of the global aviation industry.  

The U.S is expected to see a seismic shift in 
aircraft demand, as many operators seek to replenish 
and upgrade their legacy fleet. According to recent 
surveys, demand for aircraft is expected to swell due to 
the need to modernize its existing aircraft fleet. Growth 
in Europe remains subdued; however, we are 
witnessing a greater appetite for new technology 
aircraft from both legacy carriers and LCC’s, who play a 
dominant role across Europe. 

Market expectations for aircraft deliveries by 
2037 are expected to surpass 39,000 new aircraft, with 
more than 75% made up of narrow body aircraft, 
namely, A320Neo and B737Max aircraft. The growth in 
aircraft demand is driven by the need to fulfill growth 
requirements and replacement of aged aircraft2. 
Largest recipient of the new aircraft deliveries are 
predominantly airlines and lessors across Asia Pacific. 
The growth of the aviation sector across Asia Pacific, 
continues to provide long term opportunities within 
the industry.  
 
Aviation Leasing Industry 
Aircraft leasing continues to see strong growth, as more 
airline operators see operating leases as a flexible and 
prudent way to manage their expectations.  

Considerable influx of Chinese lessors is a 
testament to the growth opportunity witnessed within 
aircraft leasing. 
  There is a growing expectancy that total 
volume of aircraft leased is expected to surpass 50% by 
the end of 2020. Lessors will play an integral role in 
servicing the needs of airlines, as the demand for new 
aircraft continues to increase exponentially. 

Leasing continues to be the favored form of 
funding for operators for several reasons, including: 

• Increased financial flexibility allowing deployment of 
capital to other aspects of the business; 

• Avoidance of large upfront fees; and, 

• Elimination of residual value risk. 
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Aircraft lessors account for a total of 25% of the 
estimated 10,000 new aircraft orders placed with 
Airbus and Boeing3.  
 
Challenges in 2019 and beyond 
Like last year, fuel prices and rising interest rates 
continue to pose problems for many airlines and lessors 
alike. Additionally, growing concerns over exogeneous 
factors are culminating in lower demand and 
subsequent softening of lease rates. 

With financing becoming more difficult to 
source and many leading financial institutions scale 
back lending due to uncertainty, as a result we do 
expect a slowdown in the volume and frequency of 
acquisitions.  

Economic uncertainty and rising geo-political 
tensions between leading economies, has initiated a 
series of difficult and complex moves, often impairing 
investor and consumer confidence. GDP and growth 
itself is expected to be revised down over the next 12-
18 months, as the markets continue to factor and price 
in long run events. 

Contrary to economic challenges expected to 
be faced, aircraft orders continue to exceed 
expectations. Higher interest rates, and oil prices 
fluctuations are placing some pressure on profitability 
and yields for many airline operators. This combined 
with recent currency devaluation of some leading 
emerging economies we expect to see a slowdown or 
delay in fleet expansion as airlines grapple with 
controlling potential escalating operational costs. 
Whilst we do not expect airlines to scale back their 
investment in new aircraft, we may see a gradual 
decline in new orders and downward pressure on 
aircraft values due to a slowdown in demand. 

Interest rates shall continue to increase the 
cost of borrowing in the short term, and we do expect 
this cost to rise in anticipation of the Fed increasing 
rates further going into 2019. Access to cheaper 
financing seen in previous years is likely to be more 
remote, however, the appetite for secured lending 
remains strong considering the liquidity of the 
underlying asset and the strong outlook for the 
industry. 

 Chinese lessors continue to provide a stern 
challenge for the rest of the leasing industry. However, 
recent economic concerns regarding the rate of growth 

                                                           
3 Ascend Data (Sep. 2017) 

and invocation of monetary and fiscal reforms (by the 
Chinese Central Bank) to stimulate growth, may point 
to a slowdown in the trading activity of many Chinese 
lessors, as financial institutions in China scale back their 
lending operations. 

Despite the challenges that lie ahead, we do 
anticipate demand for new aircraft to remain strong in 
the longer term, but challenges in the short-term are to 
be expected. 

 
Our focus in 2019  
Our focus and strategy are to pursue organic growth 
through the placement of our large orderbook, which 
started delivering at the back end of 2017 and shall 
continue until 2023. New generation aircraft, such as 
the A320neo and B737Max shall continue to play a 
dominant role in the aviation leasing space as the 
demand for fuel efficient and new technology aircraft 
continues to meet the needs of airlines and lessors. 
  Placing of our aircraft is not without its 
challenges; worsening economic conditions and 
softening lease rate factors in the short run may inhibit 
appetite and increase the level of competitiveness. 
However, we firmly believe that our underlying assets, 
expertise and relationships across the industry shall 
serve us well in finding the right deals which meets the 
expectations of our shareholders. 

To support our growth plans and to meet the 
challenging pipeline, ALAFCO has continued to invest in 
recruiting the best talent, to ensure we are well 
equipped and have the right skills and expertise to 
successfully execute our strategy. We feel that growing 
our team and having a presence in markets which we 
previously did not will provide considerable 
competitive advantage to ALAFCO. 
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Fatwa and Shari’a 
Supervisory report 
 
 
To: ALAFCO Shareholders 
Date: 22 Muharram 1440 A.H. 
Corresponding to: 02 October 2018 
 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
May the Peace, mercy and blessing of Allah be upon 
you 
 
Declaration and responsibility 
In accordance with the contract signed between us; 
we at the Fatwa and Sharia Supervisory Authority of 
the Company, provide the following report: 

We, at the Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory 
Authority of the Company, have monitored and 
audited the contracts related to the transactions and 
activities undertaken by the Company during the 
period from 1/10/2017 to 30/9/2018. We have 
conducted the necessary control and review to 
express an opinion as to whether the Company has 
complied with the provisions and principles of the 

Islamic sharia, as well as any Fatwa resolutions, 
principles and guidelines issued by us. Our 
responsibility is merely to express an independent 
opinion as to the extent of the Company’s 
commitment to do so based on our verification. 
previously issued or set by the Board.  

We have conducted the control in the 
appropriate manner and the review which included 
checking the contracts and procedures followed in the 
Company based on testing each type of transaction. 
We have obtained all necessary information and 
explanations to express an opinion as to the extent to 
which the Company’s business conforms to the 
provisions of Islamic Sharia. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, ALAFCO’s contracts, documents and 
transactions conducted during the period from 
1/10/2017 to 30/9/2018, presented to us, have all 
been conducted in accordance with the provisions of 
Islamic Sharia. It is also worth noting that the 
Company does not pay Zakat on behalf of 
Shareholders. 

We ask Allah Almighty to help those who are 
responsible for overseeing the operations of the 
Company to serve our true religion, our homeland and 
to continue to guide us all on the correct path. Verily, 
Allah is the Arbiter of All Success.  

 

 

 

 
  

Dr. Essam 

Abdulrahim Algharib 
Dr. Mubarak Jazaa 

Alharbi 

Dr. Anwar Shuaib 

Abdulsalam 

Sign A Sign C Sign B 
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Corporate 
Governance  
 
Governance Statement  
We at ALAFCO are committed to ensuring that we 
conduct our business activities through a well-established 
and clearly articulated governance framework. This 
framework gives us comfort and the confidence that we 
are aligned with our shareholders and customers. Our 
commitment toward building strong governance is 
engrained in our culture, and therefore the Board 
through its fiduciary duty ensures that all governance 
across the group is of the highest standards, compliant 
with the business, legislative and regulatory requirements 
set forth within Kuwait, and the industry in which we 
operate. 
 
The Board 
Details of the role of the board and its committees are 
described in the following pages. The duties of the Board 
and each of its committees are set out in their respective 
Terms of Reference. The Terms of Reference list both 
matters that are specifically reserved for decision by our 
Board and those matters that must be reported to it. The 
Board delegates clearly defined responsibilities to various 
committees and the formation, composition and duties of 
each of these committees can be found on the next page. 
 
Board and Committee structure 

Governance Framework 
Governance is reflected across all levels of ALAFCO and 
its group in line with the principles of professional 
responsibility and accountability. It encompasses the 
Board structure, ethical values and practices, group 
structure, policies and procedures, internal control, risk 
management, transparency and disclosures, and 
protection of the interests of shareholders and 
stakeholders. This is achieved by means of establishing 
sound management approaches compliant with 
regulatory instructions and legislations, ensuring their 
non-breach of these instructions for Corporate 
Governance.   

ALAFCO monitors all legal and regulatory 
requisites within the scope of disclosure, in compliance 
with the guiding principles of the Capital Markets 
Authority and Boursa Kuwait. The Board has appointed a 
Board Secretary from within the ALAFCO employees and 
defined his responsibilities in accordance with regulatory 
requirements and best practice. 

ALAFCO Board has formed four Board 
committees for overseeing the operations and activities 
of the company, in line with requirements of regulatory 
authorities and the mandate given by its shareholders. 
The Board committees including purpose, respective 
roles, responsibilities and objectives are provided on the 
following pages.

Audit Risk, governance 
and compliance 

Remuneration & 

Nomination 
Executive Sharia 

Supervisory 

ALAFCO K.S.C.P Board 

Collectively responsible for promoting long-term sustainable success of the Company, generating value for 

shareholders and wider society. The Board sets the groups purpose, strategy and values, and ensures that these 

are aligned with the overall culture of the company. The Board sets the Company’s risk appetite and satisfies 

itself that the financial controls and risk management systems are robust whilst ensuring the company is 

adequately resourced. It also ensures that there is appropriate and consistent dialogue with shareholders on 

strategy and remuneration. Details of the responsibilities of each Board committee are set out in this report. 

Board Committees 
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Board and Committee meetings attendance during FY2017/18 
 

Number of meetings held 

 
Board1 

11 

Audit 
Committee 

5 

Risk, Governance, and 
Compliance Committee 

4 

Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee       

 2 

Chairman     

Barrak Abdulmohsen Barrak Alsabeeh2 10/11 - - 2/2 

Executive Directors     

Ahmad Abdullah Alzabin2 10/11 - - 2/2 

Non-Executive Directors     

Mohammed Al Lamadani3  9/11 - - - 

Abdulwahab Essa Alroshood2 10/11 5/5 4/4 2/2 

Fahad Abdul Razzaq Alnisf2 11/11 - - 2/2 

Meshari Mustafa Aljudaimi 11/11 5/5 4/4 - 

Independent Directors     

Paul Quigley2 10/11 5/5 4/4 - 

 
1. During the year, there were 11 board meetings all of which were scheduled, and none were called at short notice 
2. All members who missed Board committee, due to prior commitments, or scheduling issues. 
3. Elected to the Board in November 2017. 

 

Board agenda and meeting minutes 
An agenda for a Board meeting is prepared and 
circulated to all members at least 3 working days 
before the meeting, along with appropriate supporting 
documents. The Board adopts the agenda when the 
meeting is convened and in the event of any objection 
from any member on the agenda, the same is 
documented in the minutes of meeting. 

The minutes of the meetings are documented, 
including all discussions, deliberations and the voting 
process. Any Board member objecting to any of the 
resolutions passed by the Board can request to register 
his objection in the minutes. 

The minutes are circulated to the entire Board 
and are signed by all attending Board members along 
with the Board Secretary in the next Board meeting. In 
addition, each page of the Board minute is initialed by 
every attending Board member along with the Board 
Secretary. Minutes can also be approved by circulation 
wherever necessary, which shall be ratified in the next 
meeting. The minutes of meetings are adequately 
safeguarded. 
 
 
 
 

Board Committee Roles and Responsibilities 
The authority and responsibility of the Board and 
Executive Management have been well defined within 
the control framework and processes of ALAFCO. 

It is ensured that the Board members and the 
members of Board committees have full access to all 
information on a timely basis. Prior to Board meetings 
and meetings of Board committees, all relevant 
supporting documentation is shared with the Board 
members on a timely basis. In addition, the Board 
Secretary and the Head of Risk and Compliance are 
mandated to assist the Board in obtaining any 
information they require. 
 

  



ALAFCO K.S.C.P Annual report and accounts 2018                         

  16 

Professional Conduct and ethical standards 
Code of Conduct 
ALAFCO is committed to establishing a framework for 
professional conduct, fairness, honesty and developing 
ethical values inside the Company. The aim is to 
enhance the investor’s trust in the integrity of the 
Company and its financial soundness. As a part of this 
commitment the Board has laid down a code of ethics 
and professional conduct for the Board and executive 
management for promoting sound corporate practices 
and ethical conduct to protect the long-term interests 
of stakeholders. 

The code of ethics and professional conduct is 
intended as a practical guide designed to assist the 
members of Board and Executive Management of the 
Company in carrying out their work. The principles and 
values found in the code are an integral part of the 
rigorous commitment the Company strives to make, to 
sustain its corporate image and public trust. 

 
Conflict of Interest 
Conflict of interest is the conflict between the private 
interests and official responsibilities of an individual or 
an institution in a position of trust, which may 
compromise impartiality or integrity or lead to unfair 
competitive advantage. A conflict of interest exists 
when an employee's duty to give undivided business 
loyalty to the Company can be prejudiced by actual or 
potential personal benefit from another source. 

In addition to the code of ethics and 
professional conduct, the Board has also formulated a 
conflict of interest policy. The conflict of interest policy 
lays out policy statements, procedures and best 
practices to manage conflict of interest situations.  

 
Disclosures 
Disclosure and Transparency 
There is in place a policy to ensure that timely and 
accurate disclosure is made on all material matters 
regarding the Company, including the financial 
situation, performance and governance of the 
company to the stakeholders that will enable them to 
understand its governance, strategy, policies, activities, 
practices and facilitate evaluation of its performance. 

The disclosure and transparency policy along 
with various processes within ALAFCO ensure that all 
relevant information is disclosed in a transparent 
manner to all stakeholders. There is in place a 
mechanism by which all relevant information of Board 

members and the Executive Management is identified 
and disclosed. 
For effective and timely disclosure, the company 
adopts various mechanisms, including use of ALAFCO 
website, direct disclosure to the regulatory 
authorities and the use of the Investors Affairs unit. 
 
Investor Affairs 
ALAFCO has established an Investors Affairs unit (IAU) 
which is responsible for making available all relevant 
information and reports to existing and prospective 
investors. The IAU is reasonably independent and 
strives to provide timely and accurate information on 
various platforms (including the Company’s website) 
to its desired users in an unbiased manner. 
 
 
Use of IT Infrastructure 
ALAFCO understands and appreciates the importance 
of the use of IT infrastructure in the compilation and 
disclosure of critical information. Consequently, there 
are multiple automated systems in place to record 
and present financial and non-financial information. 

The website of the Company is also utilized 
for sharing relevant financial and non-financial 
information with all stakeholders. 

 
Shareholder Rights 
ALAFCO strives to ensure fair and equitable treatment 
of all of its shareholders and making sure that all 
relevant information is shared in a timely and 
equitable manner.  

For this purpose, the Board has formulated a 
shareholder policy that outlines its policy statements 
and processes to ensure timely access to information 
about the Company, including its financial 
performance, strategic goals and plans, material 
developments, corporate governance and risk profile, 
in order to enable shareholders to exercise their 
rights in an informed manner, and to allow the 
shareholders and the investment community at large 
to engage actively with the Company. In addition, 
shareholders are encouraged to actively participate in 
shareholder meetings. Shareholders’ rights include 
(but not limited to) the following: 

• Right to receive dividend distribution. 

• Right to receive part of Company’s assets in case of 
liquidation in accordance with the provisions of 
Company law. 
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• Right to receive approved information and/or data 
related to the Company’s activities and its 
operational and investment strategies on a timely 
basis. 

• Right to participate in the general assembly 
meetings of the shareholders and to vote in 
accordance with applicable rights, laws and 
regulations. 

• Right to vote during the election of membership to 
the Board of Directors. 

• Right to monitor the Company’s performance in 
general and the Board of Directors specifically. 

• Right to hold the Board members and the 
Executive Management of the Company 
accountable within the stated parameters of 
Company law. 

• Right to record the value of shares owned.  

• Right to register, move or transfer the ownership 
of shares 

• Right to review the Shareholders Register and 
verify that data is maintained according to highest 
degrees of protection. 

 
Role of stakeholders 
Stakeholders are individuals or groups that have 
interests in an organization. Stakeholders can affect or 
be affected by the organization's actions, objectives 
and policies. The primary stakeholders in a typical 
corporation are its investors, employees, customers, 
financiers and suppliers. The expectations of the 
stakeholders are sometimes divergent and at times in 
conflict with each other and it is the responsibility of 
the Company to strike a balance between the interests 
of its stakeholders and its self-interests. 

ALAFCO is committed to the highest ethical 
standards and it desires its stakeholders to have strong 
faith and commitment towards it. For this purpose, 
there is in place a comprehensive stakeholder policy 
and stakeholder management framework.  

Stakeholders are encouraged to actively 
engage with ALAFCO on all applicable platforms. For 
instance, ALAFCO customers, financiers, regulators, 
employees interact with each other on a regular basis 
by way of electronic channels, conferences to make 
sure their interests are aligned, and any grievances 
are identified and duly remedied. 
 
 

Performance enhancement orientations, trainings 
and CPD 
For the purpose, the Board of directors are provided 
with orientation and Board packs that include 
substantial information about the company and its 
activities. In addition, there is in place a mechanism 
for on-going development of Board members. 
Similarly, there are processes in place to ensure that 
sufficient resources are utilized on the training and 
professional development of executive management. 
 
Performance evaluation of the board and executives 
The Board has defined job descriptions and key 
performance indicators (KPI’s) for the Board, 
individual Board members and the Executive 
Management. There are processes in place to ensure 
that on an annual basis, their performance is 
evaluated against a structured and well-defined 
criterion.  
Value creation 
The Board and Executive Management strive to create 
and enhance value for ALAFCO shareholders and 
stakeholders. Progress of the KPI’s is regularly 
monitored by management and thoroughly discussed 
internally.  
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Declaration – CEO and CFO 
As prescribed under Chapter 5 of Book 15 of the 
Executive Regulations on Corporate Governance, we, 
as Executive Management hereby certify that: 
1. We have prepared the financial statements and 

cash flow statement for the year ended 30 
September 2017 to the best of our knowledge 
and belief: 

a) these do not contain any materially untrue 
statement or omit any material fact or contain 
statements that might be misleading; 

b) these statements together present a true and fair 
view of the Company’s affairs and are in 
compliance with International Accounting 
Standards as approved by the CMA, and 
applicable laws and regulations. 

2. There are, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, no transactions entered into by the 
Company during the year ended 30 September 
2017 which are fraudulent, illegal or are in 
violation of the Company’s code of conduct.  

3. We accept responsibility for establishing and 
maintaining internal controls for financial 
reporting and that we have evaluated the 
effectiveness of the internal control systems of 
the Company pertaining to financial reporting and 
we have disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit 
Committee, deficiencies in the design or 
operation of such internal controls, if any, of 
which we are aware and the steps we have taken 
or propose to take to rectify these deficiencies.  

4. We have indicated to the Auditors and the Audit 
Committee: 

a) significant changes, if any, in internal control over 
financial reporting during the year;  

b) significant changes in accounting policies during 
the year and that the same have been disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements; and  

c) instances of significant frauds of which we have 
become aware and the involvement therein, if 
any, of the management or an employee having a 
significant role in the Company’s internal control 
system over financial reporting. 

 
       CEO      Financial Controller  
 

Declaration – Board of Directors 
As stipulated under Chapter 5 of Book 15 of the 
Executive Regulations on Corporate Governance, we 
the Board of Directors collectively hereby state that: 
1. The financial statements and the cash flow 

statement for the year ended 30 September 2017, 
to the best of our knowledge and belief prepared 
and provided to you: 

a) do not contain any materially untrue statement or 
omit any material fact or contain statements that 
might be misleading; 

b) together present a true and fair view of the 
Company’s affairs and are in compliance with 
International Accounting Standards as approved by 
the CMA, and applicable laws and regulations. 

2. We have indicated to the Auditors: 
a) significant changes, if any, in internal control over 

financial reporting during the year;  
b) significant changes in accounting policies during 

the year and that the same have been disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements. and  

c) instances of significant frauds, if any, of which we 
have become aware and the involvement therein, 
if any, of the management or an employee having 
a significant role in the Company’s internal control 
system over financial reporting. 

 
       Board of Directors 
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Our Board of  
Directors 
 
 
Barrak Abdulmohsen Barrak Al Sabeeh 
Position: Chairman 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Committee Membership: Nomination & Remuneration  
Committee (Chair) 
Tenure: 3 years 1 month.  First appointed to the Board 
in 2001 until 2012. Re-elected in 2015. 
Qualifications: B.Eng. Industrial engineering (A&T State  
University) 
Skills and Experience: Over 30 years’ experience across 
aviation, telecom and industrial sector. Experienced  
leader who has held leadership roles in both the private 
and public sectors. Board member and Chairman across 
several reputable organizations within the region. 
 
Ahmad Abdullah Alzabin 
Position: Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Committee Membership: Nomination & Remuneration  
Committee  
Tenure: 3 years 1 month. Appointed to the Board in  
2002 and appointed as Chief Executive Officer in 2000. 
Qualifications: Aeronautical Engineer, (AST, Scotland) 
Skills and Experience: Ahmad has over 40 years’ 
experience in the aviation industry. 27 years were spent 
at Kuwait Airways, where he held a senior leadership 
position. Recognized by Forbes in 2012 as the top 
business leader of the Arab World. Ahmad’s knowledge 
and experience in aviation are invaluable to ALAFCO and 
the Board. 
 
Paul Quigley 
Position: Independent Director 
Nationality: Irish 
Committee Membership: Audit Committee (Chair),  
Risk Governance and Compliance Committee (Chair) 
Tenure: 1 year 11 months. Appointed to the Board in  
January 2017 
Qualifications: PhD, (University of Birmingham) 
Skills and Experience: Paul has over 40 years’ 
experience, in finance, tax and risk management. Paul 
Is a senior and until recently was Chief Risk Officer for 
one of the leading banks in Kuwait.  

 
Mohammed Al Lamadani 
Position: Non-Executive Director 
Nationality: Saudi Arabian 
Committee Membership:  
Tenure: 1 year 1 month. Appointed to the Board in 
November 2017 
Qualifications: M.Eng. Mechanical Engineering and 
Management (University of Kansas, USA) 
Skills and Experience: Mohammed has over 40 years’ 
experience in the aviation industry. He spent the best 
part of 40 years with GE Aviation. Prior to leaving GE his 
last held position was that of Vice President for sales 
covering the Middle East, Turkey and Central Asia. 
Mohammed has made significant contributions during 
his tenure in the aviation industry and was commended 
by the GE Chairman for his contribution, which included 
achieving more than US $200bn in sales. 
 
Abdulwahab Essa Alroshood 
Position: Non-Executive Director 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Committee Membership: Audit Committee, Risk  
Governance and Compliance Committee, Nomination  
& Remuneration Committee 
Tenure: 3 years 1 month. First appointed to the Board in 
2013. 
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Mathematics and Computer 
Science (Western Oregon State College, USA).  
Skills and Experience: Abdulwahab has more than 27 
years’ experience across banking, working in both 
conventional and Islamic banking organizations. He has 
represented many organizations in the region in his 
capacity as a Board member and/or Chairman. He has a 
wealth of experience and knowledge that is crucial for 
the Board. 
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Fahad Abdul Razzaq Alnisf 
Position: Non-Executive Director 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Committee Membership: Nomination & Remuneration  
Committee 
Tenure: 3 years 1 month. Appointed to the Board in 
November 2015 
Qualifications: MBA Business Administration (Denver 
University, USA).  
Skills and Experience: Fahad is an Investment 
professional with over 11 years’ experience. He is also a 
board member for other companies in the region. 
Representation: Representing General Trading and 
Contracting Company. 
 
Meshari Mustafa AlJudaimi  
Position: Non-Executive Director 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Committee Membership: Audit Committee, Risk 
Governance and Compliance Committee 
Tenure: 3 years 1 month. Appointed to the Board in 
November 2015 
Qualifications: MBA Business Administration (Emory 
University, USA). CFA Charter Holder. 
Skills and Experience: Meshari has over 16 years’ 
experience in the Investment sector. He brings 
considerable knowledge and experience to the board 
through the positions he has held. He is also a board 
member for other esteemed and reputable 
organizations within Kuwait and the region 
 
Key 

Executive Director 
Non-Executive director 
Independent Director 
  



ALAFCO K.S.C.P Annual report and accounts 2018                         

  21 

 Our Executive 
 Management Team 

 
 

 
Ahmad Abdullah Alzabin 
Position: Vice Chairman & Chief Executive Officer 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Qualifications: Aeronautical Engineer, (AST, Scotland) 
Skills and Experience: Ahmad has over 40 years’ 
experience in the aviation industry. 27 years were spent 
at Kuwait Airways, where he held a senior leadership 
position. Recognized by Forbes in 2012 as the top 
business leader of the Arab World. Ahmad’s knowledge 
and experience in aviation are invaluable to ALAFCO and 
the Board. 
 
Adel Albanwan 
Position: Deputy CEO 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Qualifications: MBA, (University of San Diego, USA). 
Skills and Experience: Over 20 years of experience 
across investment banking, aircraft leasing, financial 
restructuring and turnaround experience. Additionally, 
Adel is a board member across several reputable 
companies in the region. Previously to joining ALAFCO, 
Adel was Head of Direct Investments at Kuwait Finance 
House. 
 
Saeed Quadri 
Position: SVP and Acting Head of Legal Affairs 
Nationality: Indian 
Qualifications: BSc (Hons) Mathematics, (Osmania 
University, India), CPA, CA,  
Skills and Experience: Saeed, joined ALAFCO in 2016. He 
has over 25 years aviation industry experience, having 
previously spent 17 years with Emirates and five years 
with BOC aviation in Singapore. Saeed holds a 
professional accountancy qualification from the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India and the American 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Imtiaz A. Khot 
Position: SVP Marketing 
Nationality: Indian 
Qualifications: MBA, (Oklahoma City University, USA) 
Skills and Experience: Imtiaz joined the Company in 
January 2001 from General Electric Capital in the USA 
where he held various positions in risk management. 
Prior to that, he was a manager with Fidelity Financial 
Services, a subsidiary of the Bank of Boston. He brings 
vast underwriting and portfolio management experience 
in the arena of secured and unsecured debt 
  
Mohammed Abdullah Qazi 
Position: Head of Risk and Compliance 
Nationality: Pakistani 
Qualifications: BSc Applied Accounting (Oxford Brookes, 
UK), ACCA 
Skills and Experience: Abdullah has been working with 
ALAFCO since 2015. Prior to joining ALAFCO, he served 
as a Director in Deloitte Australia. He has also worked 
with Protiviti Consulting and PWC within the risk 
advisory and control assurance departments within the 
financial services industry. Abdullah has more than 10 
years of experience in different jurisdictions including 
Australia, UK, Turkey, Malaysia, Bahrain, Kuwait, 
Pakistan, UAE and Saudi Arabia. 
 
Khalid Albaloshi 
Position: Head of Strategic Planning 
Nationality: Kuwaiti 
Qualifications: MBA (Maastricht Business School).  
Skills and Experience: Khalid joined ALAFCO in 2010. He 
is a seasoned aviation professional who has worked in 
various teams of ALAFCO, including Marketing where he 
worked for more than 4 years. In 2012, Khalid led the 
initiative on development of ALAFCO’s 5-year Strategy 
and Business Plan 
 
Adil Khair 
Position: VP Technical 
Nationality: American 
Qualifications: Aircraft Maintenance engineer, Southern 
College of Engineering and Technology 
Skills and Experience:  Adil joined ALAFCO in 2012 from 
Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company (HAECO). He 
has over 22 years aviation experience and has worked 
for several leading airlines in the US. Adil is the holder of 
FAA, EASA airframe and power plant licenses with 
multiple type ratings. 
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Jai Garg 
Position: Financial Controller 
Nationality: Indian 
Qualifications:  B. Com (Hons) Accounting, Tax and Law 
(Delhi University), Chartered Accountant of India 
Skills and Experience: Jai has been with ALAFCO for over 
5 years and is currently the Head of Accounts. Jai has 
over 12 years of experience with specialism in 
Accounting, tax and finance. 
 
Adnan Albader 
Position: Head of HR 
Nationality: Canadian 
Qualifications: MBA (USA) 
Skills and Experience: Adnan has been with ALAFCO 
since December 2012. He has over 12 years’ experience 
in HR management, with considerable experience gained 
of the local market. 
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Our Board Committees 
 
Audit Committee (AC) 
Date of Formation: 3 January 2017 
In line with the requirements of the CMA set out
in Book 15 of the Executive Regulations on Corporate 
Governance, the Board of Directors of ALAFCO have 
formed an Audit Committee (AC). The AC assists the 
Board in performing their duties as prescribed in Book 
15 of the Executive Regulations. 

 
Audit Committee  

Name Description 

Paul Quigley Independent director and 
Committee Chairman 

Abdulwahab Essa Alroshood Non- Executive director and 
Committee member 

Meshari Mustafa Aljuidaimi Non-Executive director and 
Committee member 

 
The AC members collectively have a wealth of 
knowledge and experience, which meets the 
requirements of the Audit Committee, as set out in 
corporate governance requirements. All members have 
fulfilled the requirements for recent and relevant 
financial experience, including competence in auditing 
and accounting. 

The main purpose of the Committee is to assist 
the Board in discharging its responsibilities for 
monitoring the: 

• Integrity of the Company’s financial statements; 

• adequacy and effectiveness of our systems of 
internal controls including whistleblowing 
provisions; and,  

• monitoring the effectiveness, performance and 
objectivity of our internal and external auditors. 

Authorities and responsibilities of the AC have been 
formally documented in the terms of reference. 
Moreover, the AC is provided with all information and 
explanations that assist them in performing their tasks.  
There have not been any instances where the 
resolutions of the Board of directors contradict with 
the recommendations of the AC.  

 
Risk, Governance and Compliance Committee (RGCC) 
Date of Formation: 3 January 2017 
The main purpose of the Committee is assist the Board 
in its oversight of risk within the Company, with focus 
on the Company’s risk appetite, risk profile in relation 

to capital, liquidity, market and counterparty risk. In 
addition, the effectiveness of the of the Company’s risk 
management framework also falls within the remit of 
the Committee. 

Role of the executive management is to 
discharge their duties in line with Board approved 
framework. The committee has overall responsibility 
for ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of internal 
controls, and that our risk profile remains within our 
risk appetite policy.  

ALAFCO has embedded a robust system of 
internal controls, including policies and procedures to 
ensure that all business activities are performed in line 
with the Board agreed risk appetite. Monitoring and 
compliance of our system of internal controls and the 
risk management profile, is the duty of the risk, 
governance and compliance committee. The 
implementation and subsequent monitoring of these 
systems and risks, ensures that ALAFCO is well placed 
to respond appropriately to significant risks that may 
arise from its business activities. 

Risk Management and Compliance Department 
(RCD) reports directly to the Board of Directors and has 
unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Board and 
Chairman of the Risk, Governance and Compliance 
Committee in addition to other Board members. RCD is 
responsible for assisting the Board in implementing the 
risk management framework within ALAFCO. 
The Board of Directors of ALAFCO have formed a Risk, 
Governance and Compliance Committee (RGCC). The 
RGCC assists the Board in performing their duties 
relating to risk management, corporate governance and 
compliance.  
 
Risk, Governance and Compliance Committee 

Name Description 

Paul Quigley Independent director and 
Committee Chairman 

Abdulwahab Essa Alroshood Non- Executive director and 
Committee member 

Meshari Mustafa Aljuidaimi Non-Executive director and 
Committee member 

 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) 
Date of Formation: 3 January 2017 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee role is 
to provide recommendations for membership to the 
Board of Directors. Simply, the committee will seek, 
identify and recommend candidates for selection to the 
Board – in line with the company approved policy and 
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standard, in addition to instructions issued by the 
Capital Markets Authority and Company Law of Kuwait. 
The committee oversees and reviews the requirements 
for the Board, evaluating the skills and qualification of 
the candidates. The committee will seek to balance the 
skills, knowledge, and experience on the Board and the 
succession plans for the Executive Directors. 

As part of the committee’s role, it consistently 
reviews and evaluates the balance of skills and 
experience needed for Board nomination. As part of its 
responsibility the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee sets out the key skills, experiences and 
knowledge required, which are provided by way of 
descriptions. These are reviewed to ensure that our 
requirements are consistent with the Company’s 
requirements, and that we satisfy all regulatory and 
statutory requirements.  

The Committee also conducts an annual 
evaluation assessing Board performance. Each member 
of the Board is subjected to an annual performance 
evaluation ensuring that all members meet the 
requirements set out, and that their performance is in 
line with the expectations of our shareholders. Further 
to this, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
are also responsible for the selection and recruitment 
of the Chief Executive Officer and General Managers. 

The Committee has also been tasked with the 
responsibility to review and embed the remuneration 
framework. The remuneration framework establishes 
the matters relating to pay, end of service benefits and 
incentive schemes. All prospective changes to pay and 
benefits are reviewed by the committee, with 
recommendations provided to the Board. 

 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee  

Name Description 

Barrak Abdulmohsen Barrak Al 
Sabeeh 

Independent director and 
Committee Chairman 

Ahmad Abdullah Alzabin Executive director and Committee 
member 

Abdulwahab Essa Alroshood Non-Executive director and 
Committee member 

Fahad Abdul Razzaq Alnisf Non-Executive director and 
Committee member 

 

ALAFCO has a diligent approach and firm structure in 
place - a transparent and unambiguous process for 
incentives and remunerations. Principles of 
remuneration for the Board and management are 
based on regulatory requirements and a Board-
approved remuneration policy and performance 
management system. 

As per, Rule 3 of Book 15 of the Executive 
Regulations on Corporate Governance, the following 
table includes details of remuneration granted to Board 
members and Executive Management: 
 
Board and Executive Management Remuneration 

Name Description 
Remuneration 

2017 in KD 

Barrak Abdulmohsen 
Barrak Al Sabeeh 

Chairman of the Board and 
Chairman of the Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee. 
29,000 

Ahmad Abdullah 
Alzabin 

Vice Chairman of the Board, 
CEO and member of the 

Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. 

24,000 

Paul Quigley Board member, Chairman of 
the Audit Committee and 

Chairman of the Risk, 
Governance and Compliance 

Committee. 

28,000 

Mohammed Al 
Lamadani 

Board member. 23,000 

Abdulwahab Essa 
Alroshood 

Board member, Audit 
Committee member, Risk 

Governance and Compliance 
Committee member and 

Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee member. 

26,500 

Fahad Abdul Razzaq 
Alnisf 

Board member and 
Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee member. 
24,000 

Meshari Mustafa 
Aljuidaimi 

Board member, Audit 
Committee member and Risk, 
Governance and Compliance 

Committee member. 

25,500 

 
Executive Committee (EC) 
Date of Formation: 26 November 2015 
Supporting the Board to review and approve aircraft 
leasing, aircraft acquisition, Sale and Lease Back 
transactions and its related administrative tasks up to a 
Board defined threshold.   
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Corporate Social  
Responsibility 
 
Purpose 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is not an 
abstract concept at ALAFCO; it is what we do. Even 
prior to CSR becoming a requirement by the CMA, 
ALAFCO understood the competitive advantage of 
embedding CSR into its Company-wide strategy.  

Playing a leading role in the community 
through the execution of our CSR initiatives remains 
an integral part of our strategy of value creation for 
our stakeholders. 
 
Our CSR principles 
The principles that guide us in business—
transparency, innovation, commitment and value 
creation—are the framework upon which the building 
blocks of a competitive and high-functioning 
successful business environment are built. We believe 
that encouraging the development of these key 
elements accelerates the advancement of our society 
and promotes the betterment of our community. 

ALAFCO embraces the principles of CSR by 
undertaking initiatives with the deepest respect for 
our stakeholders. We conduct our business with 
strong dedication and to ethical and responsible 
practices. Across the group, we are aware of the 
impact we have on the environment and society, both 
positive and negative. We therefore, try to minimize 
the negative impacts and enhance the positive 
impacts in terms of employee benefits, social welfare 
and local communities’ engagement. 

 
Ethical practice 
We are committed to high standards of ethical 
behavior. Our business ethics outlines our ethical 
standards and ensures we operate responsibly and 
transparently. 

We implement and provide our staff with the 
necessary training, to raise awareness and 
understanding of ethical behaviors and how we 
should engage with our partners to ensure we uphold 
the highest level of integrity in all our business 
activities. 
 
 

Supporting communities 
In 2018 ALAFCO has continued to strengthen its CSR 
practices, and in doing so ALAFCO supported a new 
initiative this year.  ALAFCO, lent its support to 
SHABAB a local Kuwaiti Charity who work closely with 
youth in Kuwait to provide a platform for education 
particularly those from underprivileged and 
impoverished backgrounds. Not only is this a fantastic 
initiative but complements ALAFCO’s CSR objectives. 

   We continue to work with Kuwait Red 
Crescent, as we continue to support their efforts to 
fight poverty and disease in the most grief-stricken 
regions.  

Away from our charitable commitments, 
ALAFCO has been keen to support the aviation 
community within Kuwait. ALAFCO has throughout 
the year supported local educational institutions to 
harness and develop education on the aviation sector 
through a combination of mentorships, local and 
international presentations and public speaking. 

Our commitment to CSR can be seen through 
our financial and non-financial support. Our financial 
obligations have increased from the previous financial 
year, demonstrating the value and importance placed 
on CSR activities.  Further to this ALAFCO’s CEO 
continues to work closely with local universities to 
advocate and leverage his knowledge on aviation and 
leadership.   

 
Governance and risk framework 
Our Risk, Governance and Compliance committee 
oversees our responsible and sustainable business 
strategy, and the policies that underpin it. As a 
company, we are subject to the corporate social 
responsibility requirements set out by the Capital 
Markets Authority (CMA), which we comply with fully.
  As part of our community investments, we 
ensure that all contributions and activities taken to 
support local communities are in line with business, 
legislative and regulatory requirements. To ensure 
this, we manage the risks associated with our 
community investments, through our comprehensive 
control framework, which includes a governance 
framework for our charitable donations and 
partnerships. 
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Risk and risk  
management  

 
Risk management is key to ALAFCO’s success. We 
accept the risks inherent to our core business of 
aircraft leasing and management.  We diversify these 
risks through   our scale, geographic spread and market 
revered products. 

We receive contracted revenues on long term 
leasing arrangements, with the cash received used to 
finance existing operations and reinvest the surplus 
cash for future growth opportunities. At the same 
time, we actively manage our risk universe adopting 
the three lines of defense model. 

Going forward, we may see a change in the 
risk landscape, where the risks may be magnified due 
to a slowdown in emerging markets, amplification of 
endogenous factors pertinent to the industry and 
heightened uncertainty driving volatility across 
markets. These issues may affect our current 
profitability and test the strength and resilience of our 
business. The principal risk trends describe the risks 
pertinent to our business, their impact, outlook and 
how we manage these risks. 
 
How we manage risk 
Rigorous and consistent risk management is embedded 
across the company and its operations, through our 
risk management framework – which is outlined later 
in this section. Our risk management framework 
comprises of our approach to setting the risk appetite 
in addition to the processes which govern the 
oversight, management and monitoring of risk factors. 
 
Our governance 
Our system of governance includes our risk policies, 
Risk, Governance and Compliance committee (RGCC) 
and roles and responsibilities within the group. Line 
management in the business is accountable for risk 
management, which together with risk and internal 
audit form our ‘three lines of defense’ of risk 
management. The role and responsibilities of the RGCC 
are set out in the Corporate Governance section of this 
report. 
 
 
 

Our Process 
This consists of our method of identifying, measuring,  
managing, monitoring and reporting risks, including  
the use of our risk models, stress, and scenario 
testing. After evaluation of the risk to the business,  
we take steps to either accept it, or take the 
necessary steps to reduce, transfer, or mitigate them. 
 
Our risk appetite framework 
This refers to the risk as a proxy of the returns we are 
seeking to pursue, the risks we accept, but seek to 
minimize and the risk we seek to avoid or transfer, 
including quantitative expressions of the risk we can 
support (e.g. the amount of exposure to a specific 
region we are willing to accept) 
 
Types of risk inherent to our business model 
Risks customers transfers to us 

• Lessee default risk, where the customer (lessee) 
fails to fulfil its obligations to the lessor due to 
adversity and poor performance 

• Maintenance and records risk, higher costs 
leveraged on us, due to the lessee’s inability to 
maintain the aircraft or keep adequate records as 
contractually obliged. 

• Event risk, the impact of a major catastrophe 
involving our planes are likely to impact earnings 
and increase costs in the short term. 

 
Risks arising from our investments 

• Credit risks (actual defaults and market 
expectation of defaults) create uncertainty in our 
ability to offer a minimum investment return on 
our investments 

• Liquidity risk is the risk of not being able to make 
payments as they become due because there are 
insufficient assets in form of cash 

• Market risk results from fluctuations in asset 
values, including equity prices, foreign exchange, 
inflation and interest rates. 

 
Risks from our operations and other business risks 

• Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss 
arising from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and systems or external events 
including changes in the regulatory environment
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Principal risk types 
The types of risk to which the company is exposed, described in detail in the table below, has not changed significantly 
over the past year. All the risks below, and operational risks, may have an adverse impact on our brand and reputation.

Risk type Risk preference Mitigation 

Credit risk 

• Credit default 

Credit risk is normal in our 
business; however, we believe 
we have the processes and 
systems to manage our exposure. 
Managing our exposure 
effectively allows us to earn 
superior returns 

• Risk appetites set to limit overall level of credit risk 

• Risk based pricing of leases to protect against 
potential default 

• Credit risk assessment program 

• Repossession program in place 

• Active aircraft portfolio management, and aircraft de-
risking exercises regularly performed 

Market risk 

• Oil prices 

• Interest rate 

• Inflation 

We see some market risks as part 
of our investment and service 
offering. We have limited 
appetite for interest rate, and 
inflation risk. Similarly, oil prices 
indirectly affect us, which is an 
exogenous risk. 

• Risk appetites set to limit overall level of market risks 

• Natural hedging between operational leases and 
financing arrangements 

• Rental prices priced in year of lease agreement rather 
than delivery year to counteract inflation 

 

Event risk 

• Major catastrophe 

• Terror attacks 

• Trade wars 

• Aircraft oversupply 

• Economic 
Slowdown and 
divergence 
 

We remain cognizant of the risk 
of major events on the aviation 
industry. Whilst, some of these 
risks remain outside the realms 
of our control, others such as 
aircraft oversupply can be 
managed through the managing 
our exposures to specific regions, 
and aircraft types 

• Repossession plans in place, in the event of major 
event 

• ALAFCO strategy department actively monitors the 
market to identify early warnings of distress  

• Five Year strategic plan setting our investment 
strategy, in region and aircraft types 

• Regular economic analysis and research on major 
markets, including existing and potential. 

 

Asset risk 

• Residual value 

• Maintenance 

• Asset type 
 

We take asset risks in measured 
amounts for explicit rewards. In 
line with our core skills in 
understanding and pricing of the 
assets. We prefer those risks that 
we understand well, that are 
intrinsically well managed and 
where there is a spread of risk 
across asset types. 

• Risk appetites set to limit overall level of asset risks 

• Collection of maintenance reserves, which are 
reinvested over the duration of the lease term 

• Contractual obligations set forth in all contracts 
between lessee and lessor 

• Balancing asset risks between aircraft type, 
manufacturer type, technological capabilities of 
aircraft 
 

Operational risk 

• Technology 

• People 

• Conduct 

• Process 

• Legal & regulatory 
 

Operational risk should be 
reduced to as low as 
commercially sensible, on the 
basis that taking operational risk 
will rarely provide us with an 
upside. 

• Risk appetites set to limit overall level of operational 
risks 

• Operational risk and control framework, which 
includes tools, processes and standardized reporting 
necessary to identify, measure, monitor and report 
on operational risks and controls in place 

• On-going investment and development of our 
technology infrastructure to improve resilience and 
reliability of our systems. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE 
SHAREHOLDERS OF ALAFCO AVIATION LEASE AND 
FINANCE COMPANY K.S.C.P. 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of ALAFCO Aviation Lease and Finance 
Company K.S.C.P. (the “Parent Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively the “group”), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 September 2018, and the 
consolidated statement of income, consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting 
policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the group as at 30 September 2018, 
and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs). 

 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (lSAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the 
group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current year. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. For each matter below, our description 
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in 
that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these matters.  
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements. The results of our audit 
procedures, including the procedures performed to 
address the matters below, provide the basis for our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
a) Impairment of aircraft and engines 
As at 30 September 2018, aircraft and engines are 
carried at KD 829,509,062 as disclosed in note 4. The 
impairment test of aircraft and engines performed by 
the management is significant to our audit due to the 
size of the assets’ carrying value as well as the 
judgement involved in the assessment of recoverable 
amounts of aircraft and engines, which are based on 
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value-in-use or fair value less costs to sell. Value-in-
use basis is complex and requires considerable 
judgment on the part of management such as 
estimates of future cash flows and discount rate 
variables which includes risk free rate, equity risk 
premium, beta in the relevant industry sector and 
estimation of cost of debt based on the group’s total 
debt/equity balances.  

Fair value less costs of sell is based on 
models adopted by the management using published 
reports of aircraft values. The published reports of 
aircraft values include the value of aircrafts in the 
current year considering the model and date of 
manufacturing of each aircraft. Therefore, we 
identified the impairment testing of aircraft and 
engines as a key audit matter. 
  Our audit procedures to assess the 
impairment testing of aircraft and engines included 
the following: 

• Assessing the knowledge and expertise of the 
management of the group to perform such 
impairment assessment; 

• Evaluating and challenging the key assumptions 
and methodologies used by the management;  

• Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation 
technique used and evaluating the key 
assumptions used by the management in 
determining the fair value less costs to sell which 
includes benchmarking the fair value with the 
published reports of aircraft values; 

• Assessing the appropriateness of discount rates 
used by management to determine the value-in-
use with the help of our internal specialist by 
reference to externally available data taking into 
account regional and industry specific risk 
premiums; 

• Assessing the reasonability of estimated future 
cash flows based on the recent lease agreement of 
each aircraft and the related lease income;  

• Comparing the assumptions adopted in the prior 
year’s impairment assessments with actual results 
for the current year, and investigating significant 
variances identified and considering the impact on 
the current year’s impairment assessments. 

 
a) Aircraft heavy maintenance provisions 
The group is contractually committed to deliver 
certain existing aircrafts to lessees in a certain 
condition agreed with the lessees. Management 

estimates the maintenance costs and the costs 
associated with the overhaul/restitution of major 
components of aircraft such as engines and life-
limited parts as per operating lease agreements. The 
calculation of such costs includes a number of 
variable factors and assumptions, including the 
anticipated utilisation of the aircraft, cost of 
maintenance and the remaining lifespan of the 
engines/life-limited parts at the time when the 
aircrafts would be delivered to the new lessees. 
Heavy maintenance provisions for aircraft 
maintenance costs aggregated to KD 23,706,128 as at 
30 September 2018 and are included within 
maintenance reserve and provisions in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.  

We have identified the assessment of 
aircraft heavy maintenance provisions as a key audit 
matter because of the inherent level of complex and 
subjective management judgements required in 
assessing the variable factors and assumptions in 
order to quantify the provision amounts. 
  Our audit procedures to assess aircraft 
heavy maintenance provisions included the following: 

• Evaluating the provisioning model, methodology 
and key assumptions adopted by management in 
estimating the provisions and any changes therein 
by reviewing the terms of the new operating lease 
agreements and comparing assumptions to 
contract terms; 

• Discussing with engineering department 
responsible for aircraft engineering the estimated 
utilization and expected remaining useful lives of 
life-limited parts of the aircraft at the time of 
delivery to new lessee. Further, we consider the 
consistency of the provisions with the engineering 
department’s assessment of the condition of 
aircraft. 

• Performing a retrospective review of aircraft 
maintenance provisions to evaluate whether the 
judgement and decisions made by management in 
estimating the provisions in the prior year 
indicated possible management bias. 
 

Other Information Included in the Group’s 2018 
Annual Report 
Management is responsible for the other information. 
Other information consists of the information 
included in the Group’s 2018 Annual Report, other 
than the consolidated financial statements and our 
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auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the report of 
the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, prior to the 
date of our auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain 
the remaining sections of the group’s 2018 Annual 
Report after the date of our auditor’s report.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 
does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.  
  In connection with our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed on the other 
information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information; 
we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged 
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs and for such 
internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to 
liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the group’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
 
 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken based 
on these consolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal 
control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
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report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause 
the group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with 
governance with a statement that we have 
complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with 
those charged with governance, we determine 
these matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account 
have been kept by the Parent Company and the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the 
contents of the report of the Parent Company’s Board 
of Directors relating to these consolidated financial 
statements, are in accordance therewith.  

We further report that we obtained all 
the information and explanations that we required for 
the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated 
financial statements incorporate all information that 
is required by the Companies Law No 1 of 2016 as 
amended, and its executive regulations as amended, 
and by the Parent Company's Memorandum of 
Incorporation and Articles of Association, as 
amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and 
that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no 
violations of the Companies Law No 1 of 2016 as 
amended, and its executive regulations as amended, 
nor of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation and Articles of Association, as 
amended, have occurred during the year ended 30 
September 2018 that might have had a material effect 
on the business of the Parent Company or on its 
financial position.
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The attached notes 1 to 21 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 

ALAFCO Aviation Lease and Finance Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries                                    

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 September 2018 
 
 
 
 
  2018 2017 

 Notes KD KD 

    
ASSETS     

Aircraft, engines and equipment 4 829,509,062 883,547,970 

Capital advances 5 237,501,172 127,570,232 

Receivables  8,906,295 3,224,856 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 47,520,835 61,987,014 
  ──────────── ──────────── 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,123,437,364 1,076,330,072 

  ════════════ ════════════ 

    
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
    
EQUITY    

Share capital 7 95,209,348 95,209,348 

Share premium 7 17,829,167 17,829,167 

Statutory reserve 8 27,666,075 24,120,022 

Foreign currency translation reserve  13,959,649 12,933,651 

Retained earnings   156,759,199 136,650,080 

  ──────────── ──────────── 

TOTAL EQUITY  311,423,438 286,742,268 
  ──────────── ──────────── 

LIABILITIES    

Due to financial institutions 9 631,159,564 611,848,817 

Security deposits 10 10,916,966 14,312,313 

Maintenance reserve and provisions 11 153,079,598 143,731,943 

Other liabilities 12 16,857,798 19,694,731 

  ──────────── ──────────── 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  812,013,926 789,587,804 
  ──────────── ──────────── 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   1,123,437,364 1,076,330,072 

  ════════════ ════════════ 

 
 
 
 
 
________________________   ________________________ 
Barrak A. Al-Sabeeh   Ahmad Abdullah Alzabin 
Chairman of the Board   Vice Chairman and CEO 
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The attached notes 1 to 21 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 

ALAFCO Aviation Lease and Finance Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 
For the year ended 30 September 2018 
 
 

 
    2018   2017 

 Notes   KD   KD 

    

Operating lease income  95,685,005 81,300,829 

Murabaha income  833,353 550,255 

Gain on disposal of aircraft, engines and equipment 4 29,783,996 31,895,541 

Other income  116,038 64,103 

Staff costs  (3,017,540) (3,240,882) 

Depreciation 4 (43,865,820) (38,374,239) 

Impairment loss on aircraft, engines and equipment 4 - (7,717,536) 

Heavy maintenance and re-lease provision 11 (17,064,024) (11,384,984) 

Other operating expenses  (4,836,325) (2,896,768) 

Finance costs  (22,174,156) (15,261,959) 

  ────────── ────────── 

PROFIT BEFORE CONTRIBUTION TO KUWAIT FOUNDATION  

FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF SCIENCES (KFAS),  

NATIONAL LABOUR SUPPORT TAX (NLST), ZAKAT, AND     

DIRECTORS’ FEES 

 

35,460,527 

 

 

34,934,360 
    

Contribution to KFAS  (319,145) (314,409) 

NLST  (1,275,196) (1,160,742) 

Zakat  (510,079) (464,297) 

Directors’ fees 16 (180,000) (180,000) 
  ────────── ────────── 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  33,176,107 32,814,912 

  ══════════ ══════════ 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 3  34.85 fils 34.47 fils 

  ══════════ ══════════ 
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ALAFCO Aviation Lease and Finance Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 September 2018 

  
     

 
 

  

 2018 2017 

 KD KD 

   

Profit for the year 33,176,107 32,814,912 

 ───────── ───────── 

Other comprehensive income: 

Items that are not reclassified subsequently to consolidated statement of      

   income 

  

Foreign currency translation adjustments 1,025,998 568,658 

 ───────── ───────── 

Other comprehensive income for the year 1,025,998 568,658 

 ───────── ───────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year 34,202,105 33,383,570 

 ════════ ════════ 
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ALAFCO Aviation Lease and Finance Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 September 2018 
 
                                                                                                               

 

Share  

capital 
Share 

 premium 

 

 

Statutory 

reserve 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

 

 

Retained 

earnings  

 

 

 

Total 

 KD KD KD KD KD KD 

       

Balance at 1 October 2017 95,209,348 17,829,167 24,120,022 12,933,651 136,650,080 286,742,268 

Profit for the year - - - - 33,176,107 33,176,107 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - 1,025,998 - 1,025,998 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - 1,025,998 33,176,107 34,202,105 

Cash dividend (Note 7) - - - - (9,520,935) (9,520,935)  

Transfer to statutory reserve (Note 8) - - 3,546,053 - (3,546,053) - 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Balance at 30 September 2018 95,209,348 17,829,167 27,666,075 13,959,649 156,759,199 311,423,438 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 

       

Balance at 1 October 2016 95,209,348 17,829,167 20,626,586 12,364,993 112,089,072 258,119,166 

Profit for the year - - - - 32,814,912 32,814,912 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - 568,658 - 568,658 

   ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - 568,658 32,814,912 33,383,570 

Cash dividend (Note 7) - - - - (4,760,468) (4,760,468) 

Transfer to statutory reserve (Note 8) - - 3,493,436 - (3,493,436) - 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

 Balance at 30 September 2017 95,209,348 17,829,167 24,120,022 12,933,651 136,650,080 286,742,268 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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ALAFCO Aviation Lease and Finance Company K.S.C.P. and Subsidiaries   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
For the year ended 30 September 2018 
 
 

  2018 2017 

 Notes KD KD 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Profit for the year  33,176,107  32,814,912  

Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash flows:    

  Depreciation 4 43,865,820 38,374,239 

  Impairment loss on aircraft, engines and equipment 4 - 7,717,536 

  Murabaha income  (833,353) (550,255) 

  Finance costs  22,174,156 15,261,959 

  Receivables written off during the year  264,462 76,522 

  Heavy maintenance and re-lease provision  17,064,024 11,384,984 

  Gain on disposal of aircraft, engines and equipment 4 (29,783,996) (31,895,541) 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

  85,927,220  73,184,356  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

  Receivables  (7,314,914) (1,724,005) 

  Other liabilities   (5,012,956) 7,118,507 

  Maintenance reserve  3,335,195 24,500,323 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

Cash from operations  76,934,545 103,079,181 

Finance costs paid  (22,944,881) (14,269,819) 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

Net cash flows from operating activities  53,989,664 88,809,362 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Purchase of aircraft, engines and equipment   (116,174,735) (223,090,025) 

Proceeds from disposal of aircraft, engines and equipment  192,093,530 51,284,754 

Capital advances for purchase of aircraft, engines and equipment 5 (155,071,279) (73,873,144) 

Murabaha income received  836,904 654,590 

Term deposits  - 4,079,700 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (78,315,580) (240,944,125) 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Proceeds from financing facilities   283,233,045 229,702,220 

Repayment of financing facilities   (264,587,958) (59,865,134) 

Dividends paid 7 (9,520,935) (4,760,468)    

  ─────────── ─────────── 

Net cash flows from financing activities  9,124,152 165,076,618 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (15,201,764) 12,941,855 

Foreign currency adjustment  735,585 (303,333) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   61,987,014 49,348,492 

  ─────────── ─────────── 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 6 47,520,835       61,987,014 
  ═══════════ ═══════════ 
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1 INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
ALAFCO Aviation Lease and Finance Company K.S.C.P. (ALAFCO) (the “parent company”) is a Kuwaiti shareholding 
company registered and incorporated in Kuwait on 21 March 2000. The parent company is engaged in providing service to 
buy aircraft and other related assets on behalf of the aviation companies, coordinating with factories, providing asset 
management services to different aviation companies, providing operating lease or financing lease services commensurate 
with the needs and desires of aviation company customers, providing project financing to buy aircraft wholly or partly in 
light of the evaluation studies and the renewal of risk factors associated with such projects, marketing of aircraft to meet 
the needs of medium-and long-term for aviation companies wishing with such services, assisting aviation companies in the 
marketing of their aircraft through selling and leasing, participation in providing services associated with financing and 
providing technical support to aviation companies, assistance in the joint investment operations and specialized in aviation 
industry, Wholly or partly investment in providing aircraft, engines and spare parts as appropriate to needs of aviation 
companies and factories customers, and Management and investment of revenues generated and collected from the above-
mentioned operations. The parent company may have an interest or to participate in any aspect in other entities conducting 
similar activities or which may assist in achieving its objectives in Kuwait or abroad and it may establish, participate or buy 
these bodies or in their equity. 
 
The parent company operates in accordance with the Islamic Sharia’a principles. The parent company’s registered head 
office is at Kuwait Chamber of Commerce and Industry Building Annexe, Third Floor, Abdul Aziz Hamid Al Sagar Street, 
Al-Mirqab, Kuwait. 
 

The shares of the parent company are listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. 

 

The parent company is an associate of Kuwait Finance House K.S.C.P. (“the Bank”).  

 
The consolidated financial statements include transactions and balances of the parent company and wholly owned Special 
Purpose Companies (SPC’s) (its subsidiaries), together referred to as the “group”.  All the transactions of SPC’s are entered 
on behalf of ALAFCO and are guaranteed by ALAFCO.  
 
The consolidated financial statements of the group for the year ended 30 September 2018 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the board of directors on 5 November 2018 and are issued subject to the approval of the Annual 
General Assembly of the Shareholders’ of the parent company. The Annual General Assembly of the Shareholders has the 
power to amend these consolidated financial statements after issuance. 
 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 

The functional currency of the parent company is US dollars (“USD”). The consolidated financial statements have been 
presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”). 
 
2.2      Statement of compliance 
The consolidated financial statements of the group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 
2.3     Changes in accounting policies  
 

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used in 
previous year, except for the adoption of the following amendments to the existing standards relevant to the group, effective 
for annual periods beginning 1 October 2017. 
 
Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Disclosure Initiative 
The amendments require entities to provide disclosure of changes in their liabilities arising from financing activities, 
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses). The group 
has provided the disclosure in (Note 9). 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.4      Standards issued but not yet effective 

 
The following new and amended IASB Standards that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
group’s consolidated financial statements are discussed below. The group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective. 
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ that replaces IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement’ and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting 

for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application permitted. 

 

The group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date and will not restate comparative information. During 

the year ended 30 September 2018, the group has performed an initial assessment for the impact of all three aspects of IFRS 9. 

This assessment is based on currently available information and may be subject to changes arising from further reasonable and 

supportable information being made available to the group in the financial year ending 30 September 2019, when the group will 

adopt IFRS 9. Overall, the group expects no significant impact on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption of IFRS 

9. 

 

Classification and measurement 

The new standard requires all financial assets, except equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a 

combination of the entity’s business model for managing the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics.  
 

The accounting for financial liabilities will largely be the same as the requirements of IAS 39, except for the treatment of 
gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk relating to liabilities designated at FVTPL. Such movements will be 
presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of comprehensive 
income, unless an accounting mismatch in profit or loss would arise. 
 
The group had reviewed and assessed the group’s existing financial instruments as at 30 September 2018 based on the facts 
and circumstances that existed at that date and concluded the following in regards to their classification and measurement: 
 

• Financial assets representing account receivables and cash and cash equivalents and that are held within a business model 

whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows will subsequently be measured at amortised cost, similar to its 

current treatment. 

• The group expects no significant changes would occur in financial liabilities as the group classifies all its financial 

liabilities at amortised cost under IAS 39 and the same classification is expected to be carried forward under IFRS 9 

based on their business model. 
 

Impairment 

IFRS 9 requires the group to record expected credit losses on all its financial assets, either on a 12 month or lifetime basis. 

The group will apply a simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses on all receivables which management has 

assessed will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the group. 

 

Hedge accounting 

The management does not expect any impact on the financial statements of the group resulting from hedge accounting under 

IFRS 9 as currently, the group has not entered into any such instruments. 
 
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014, and amended in April 2016, and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue 

arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15 revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to 

which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer.  
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.4      Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued) 

The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach to measuring and recognising revenue. The new revenue 

standard is applicable to all entities and will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a 

full or modified retrospective application is required for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early 

adoption permitted. The group plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date but does not expect any 

significant impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2017 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal 
Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases 
and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance 
leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., 
personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the commencement date 
of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the 
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately 
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. 
 

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in the 
lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments). 
The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-
use asset. 
 

Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue 
to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between two types of leases: 
operating and finance leases. 
 

IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. 
 

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted, but not before 
an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified 
retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs. The group is in the process of assessing 
the impact of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial statements. 
 

2.5 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries (together, 

the “group”) as at 30 September 2018. Control is achieved when the group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 

its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, 

the group controls an investee if, and only if, the group has: 
 

• Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the 

investee) 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns 
 

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when 

the group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the group considers all relevant facts and 

circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee 

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements 

• The group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 
 

The group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one 
or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the group obtains control over the 
subsidiary and ceases when the group loses control of the subsidiary.  
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Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date the group gains control until the date the group ceases to control the 
subsidiary. 
 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.5       Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
Each component of the consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.  
 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 
with the group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the 
group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling interest 
and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of income. Any 
investment retained is recognised at fair value.  
 
As mentioned in Note 1, the activities of the SPC’s are entered on behalf of ALAFCO. The consolidated financial statements 
include the financial statements of ALAFCO and its subsidiaries (“SPC’s”) incorporated in Cayman Islands, Cyprus, Ireland, 
United Kingdom, Delaware (USA) and Malaysia as listed in the following table for the year ended 30 September 2018.  

  
Name 

 

 
Country of 

incorporation 

Share 
capital 

US$/Euro/P

ound 

 

Activities 

    

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited (Eight) 
Cayman 
Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited (Nine) 
Cayman 
Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited (Ten) 
Cayman 
Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited (Eleven) 
Cayman 
Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited 
 (Thirteen) 

Cayman 
Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited 

 (Fourteen) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited (Fifteen) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited (Sixteen) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 
Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited     

 (Seventeen) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 
Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited 

 (Eighteen) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 
Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited 

 (Nineteen) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited  

 (Twenty One) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited  
 (Twenty Two) 

Cayman 
Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited  

 (Twenty Three) 

Cayman 

Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 

aircraft. 

Osprey Aircraft Leasing Limited (Twenty Four) Cayman Island US$ 2 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

 
Mansuria Limited Cayman Islands US$ 2 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 
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Qortuba Limited Cayman Islands US$ 2 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Alafco Cyprus Aircraft Leasing Limited Cyprus Euro 1,000 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Alafco Irish Aircraft Leasing Limited Ireland US$ 2 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

 
 
 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.5       Basis of consolidation (continued) 

Alafco Irish Aircraft Leasing One Limited Ireland US$ 1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Alafco Irish Aircraft Leasing Two Limited Ireland US$ 1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Alafco Irish Aircraft Leasing Three  Limited Ireland US$ 1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Alafco Irish Aircraft Leasing Four Limited Ireland US$ 1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft 

Alafco Aviation Lease and Finance Designated 
Activity Company Ireland US$ 1 

Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Alafco Irish Aircraft Leasing Five Limited Ireland US$ 1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Salwa Aircraft Leasing (One) Limited Delaware, USA US $1,000 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Fintas Aviation Leasing UK One Limited 
United 

Kingdom Pound £1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Fintas Aviation Leasing UK Two Limited 
United 

Kingdom Pound £1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 

Fintas Aviation Leasing UK Three Limited 
United 

Kingdom Pound £1 
Purchasing, financing, leasing and subleasing of 
aircraft. 
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2.6       Summary of significant accounting policies 

 

Aircraft, engines and equipment 

Aircraft, engines and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.   
 
Depreciation is calculated on cost less residual value over the estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

• Aircraft and engines (excluding Buyer Furnished  
  Equipment – wide body aircraft)                                     20 years  (from the date of original manufacture) 

• Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) - wide body aircraft         12 years (from the date of purchase) 

• Furniture and fixtures                  5 years 

• Office equipment     5 years 
 
An item of aircraft, engines and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the 
consolidated statement of income when the asset is derecognised. 
 
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of the assets are reviewed and adjusted prospectively, if 
appropriate. 
 

Receivables  

Receivables are stated at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An estimate for doubtful 
debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash and balances with financial institutions and short-term murabahas with financial 

institutions with original maturities of three months or less from the date of placement.  
 

Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at the 

inception of the lease. The arrangement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a 

specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified 

in an arrangement. 
 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.6 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Leases 

Group as lessor 

Leases where the group retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating 

leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 

recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

 

Group as lessee 

Finance leases, which transfer to the group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, 

are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. Any initial direct costs of the lessee are added to the amount recognised as an asset. Initial direct costs are 

often incurred in connection with specific leasing activities, such as negotiating and securing leasing arrangements. The costs 

identified as directly attributable to activities performed by the lessee for a finance lease are added to the amount recognised 

as an asset.  

 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant 

rate of profit on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the consolidated 

statement of income. 
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Maintenance reserve and provisions 

Maintenance reserve and provisions comprise of maintenance reserve, heavy maintenance provision and re-lease provision. 

 

Maintenance reserve 

Maintenance reserve represents payments made by the lessee for usage of the aircraft and is offset against actual maintenance 

expenses as and when incurred on the aircraft. At the time of disposal of aircraft, the remaining balance of maintenance reserve 

is recognised as income in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

Heavy maintenance provision 

The heavy maintenance provision represents the heavy maintenance costs associated with the preparation and transition of an 

aircraft to a new lessee. This includes any costs related to heavy maintenance overhauls not covered by previously collected 

maintenance reserve. Heavy maintenance provisions are recognised when the group believes   it is probable that the costs will 

be incurred and the amount is reasonably estimated. 

 

Re-lease provision 

Re-lease provision represents the group’s best estimate of the costs associated with the preparing and transitioning of an aircraft 

from one lessee to another. These are recognised 2-3 years before the expiry of current lease when the future economic outflow 

is probable and the amount of the provision can be reliably measured.  

 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised, if they are directly attributable to a 

qualifying asset, as part of capital advances over the period of the construction until the aircraft concerned is completed and 

delivered on the basis of actual borrowings and actual expenditure incurred on the purchase of the aircraft. Capitalisation of 

borrowing costs ceases when substantially all activities necessary to prepare the aircraft for its intended use are complete. 
 

Foreign currency translation  

Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity 

are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency 

rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 

the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to consolidated statement of 

income. Non monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 

using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.  

 

 

 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.6 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Foreign currency translation (continued) 

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the group are translated from the functional currency (US Dollar) into the 

presentation currency (Kuwaiti Dinars) at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, and the consolidated statement of 

income items are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. The exchange differences arising on the translation are 

taken directly to other comprehensive income. 

 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can be 

reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is received. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty. The group has 

concluded that it is the principal in all of its revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue 

arrangements, has pricing latitude, and is also exposed to inventory and credit risks. The following specific recognition 

criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
 

• Operating lease income is recognised on a straight line basis in accordance with the lease agreement.   

• Consultancy and service income is recognised when services are rendered. 

• Murabaha income is recognised on effective yield basis. 
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Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) 

The group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% in accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s 

Board of Directors’ resolution, which states that the directors’ fees, transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from 

profit for the year when determining the contribution. 
 
National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 
The group calculates the NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of 
2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the year. 
 
Zakat 
The group provides for Zakat in accordance with the requirements of Law No. 46 of 2006. The Zakat charge calculated in 
accordance with these requirements is charged to the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
At each reporting date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered impairment in value. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where 
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, 
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 
basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining the fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
 
 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.6 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Recognition and de-recognition of financial assets and liabilities  
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the 
group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place. 

 

A financial asset (in whole or in part) is derecognised either when: (i) the rights to receive the cash flows from the asset 
have expired or (ii) the group has retained its right to receive cash flows from the assets but has assumed an obligation to 
pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or (iii) the group has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all  the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. Where the group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to 
the extent of the group’s continuing involvement in the asset.  

 

  



 

 ALAFCO K.S.C.P Annual report and accounts 2017                         

  45 

The attached notes 1 to 21 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an 

existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 

liability and the recognition of a new liability and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of income. 

 

Offsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 

position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the group intends to settle on a net 

basis 
 
Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets 

An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine, whether there is objective evidence that a specific financial asset 

or group of financial assets may be impaired. A financial asset, or a group of financial assets are impaired if there is any 

objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the 

asset and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets 

that can be reliably estimated. If such evidence or indication exists, any impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of income. 

 

a) For assets carried at fair value, impairment is the difference between cost and fair value, less any impairment loss 

previously recognised in the consolidated statement of income; 

b) For assets carried at cost, impairment is the difference between carrying value and the present value of future cash 

flows, discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset; 

c) For assets carried at amortised cost, impairment is the difference between carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial assets original effective interest rate. 
 
Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication that the impairment losses 
recognised for the financial asset no longer exist or have decreased and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized. Except for investments classified as available for sale, reversals of 
impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income to the extent the carrying value of the asset does 
not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 
 
Fair values 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 

to sell the asset, or transfer the liability, takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to the group. 

 
 
2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.6 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Fair values (continued) 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing 
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.A fair value measurement of a 
non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its 
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 

The group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to 

measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
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Employees’ end of service benefits 

The group provides end of service benefits to all its employees.  The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the employees’ 

final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period.  The expected costs of these benefits 

are accrued over the period of employment.   

  

Further, with respect to its national employees, the group also makes contributions to Public Institution for Social Security 

calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are 

expensed when due. 

 

2.7       Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 

liabilities at the reporting date and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting year. Actual results could 

differ from those estimates. The group has used judgement and estimates principally in, but not limited to, the determination 

of impairment, depreciation, and residual value of aircraft, engines and equipment. 

 

Impairment of aircraft, engines and equipment 

A decline in the value of aircraft could have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 

statements. Management assesses the impairment of aircraft whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 

carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 

Factors that are considered important which could trigger an impairment review include the following: 

• significant decline in the market value beyond that which would be expected from the passage of time or normal use, 

• significant changes in the technology and regulatory environments, 

• evidence from internal reporting which indicates that the economic performance of the asset is, or will be, worse than 

expected. 
 

Depreciation of aircraft, engines and equipment 

Management assigns useful lives and residual values to aircraft, engines and equipment based on the intended use of assets 

and the economic lives of those assets. Subsequent changes in circumstances such as technological advances or prospective 

utilisation of the assets concerned could result in the actual useful lives or residual values differing from initial estimates. 

 

Residual value of aircraft, engines and equipment 

Management decides on the appropriateness of residual value used at each reporting date. Management obtains independent 

published valuations, based on certain industry valuation techniques, of its fleet of aircraft to determine the residual values 

every year. On a conservative basis, management adopts a policy of discounting these valuations as it does not believe that 

these amounts would be realisable in open market transactions. As a result, the actual residual values could differ from initial 

estimates. Based on the above exercise, the residual value of the fleet approximates 20% of the purchase price (in aggregate) 

except for BFE – wide body aircraft which does not have a residual value.  
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, JUDGEMENTS AND 

ESTIMATES (continued) 

 

2.7       Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)  

 

Aircraft heavy maintenance provisions 

Management estimates the maintenance costs and the costs associated with the overhaul/ restitution of major components of 

aircraft such as engines and life-limited parts as per new operating lease agreements. The calculation of such costs includes a 

number of variable factors and assumptions, such as  

 

• the anticipated utilisation of the aircraft,  

• cost of maintenance and  

• the remaining lifespan of the engines/life-limited parts at the time when the aircraft would be delivered to the new lessees.  

 

3       BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit for the year by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as follows:  

 

 2018 2017 

   

Profit for the year (KD) 33,176,107 32,814,912 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 952,093,482 952,093,482 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 34.85 fils 34.47 fils 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 

As there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.  

 

4 AIRCRAFT, ENGINES AND EQUIPMENT  

 

 Aircraft and 

engines 

Furniture   

 and fixtures 

Office 

 equipment 

 

Total 

 KD KD KD KD 

Cost     

  At 1 October 2017 1,102,923,208 330,906 154,831 1,103,408,945 

  Additions 234,078,530 -     11,489 234,090,019 

  Transfer from capital advances (Note 5) 46,736,499 -     -     46,736,499 

  Disposals (358,166,003) -     -     (358,166,003) 

  Foreign currency adjustment 3,467,164 1,040 487 3,468,691 
 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

  At 30 September 2018 1,029,039,398 331,946 166,807 1,029,538,151 

 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

Depreciation and impairment     

  At 1 October 2017 219,510,343 265,856 84,776 219,860,975 

  Depreciation charge for the year 43,816,890 22,773 26,157 43,865,820 

  Disposal (64,609,916) -     -     (64,609,916) 

  Foreign currency adjustment 910,861 951 398 912,210 
 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

  At 30 September 2018 199,628,178 289,580 111,331 200,029,089 
 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

Net carrying amount 

  At 30 September 2018 829,411,220 42,366 55,476 829,509,062 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ 
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4 AIRCRAFT, ENGINES AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 
 

 Aircraft and 
engines 

Furniture   
 and fixtures 

Office 
 equipment 

 
Total 

 KD KD KD KD 
Cost     
  At 1 October 2016 920,925,140 329,264 152,869 921,407,273 
  Additions 326,958,043 769 1,556 326,960,368 
  Transfer from capital advances (Note 5) 27,102,807 -     -     27,102,807    

  Disposals (174,481,084) -     -     (174,481,084) 

  Foreign currency adjustment 2,418,302 873 406 2,419,581 
 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

  At 30 September 2017 1,102,923,208 330,906 154,831 1,103,408,945 

 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

Depreciation and impairment     

  At 1 October 2016 204,141,944 242,476 59,165 204,443,585 
  Depreciation charge for the year 38,325,787 22,860 25,592 38,374,239 
  Impairment loss on aircraft, engines and  
    equipment                     

 
7,717,536 -     -     

 
7,717,536 

  Disposal (30,965,308) -     -     (30,965,308) 

  Foreign currency adjustment 290,384 520 19 290,923 
 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

  At 30 September 2017 219,510,343 265,856 84,776 219,860,975 
 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── 

Net carrying amount 
  At 30 September 2017 883,412,865 65,050 70,055 883,547,970 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 
Aircraft with carrying value of KD 829,411,220 (2017: KD 883,412,865) are subject to finance lease and are mortgaged against 
the financing facilities with the legal title of the same with the lenders (Note 9). 
 
During the year ended 30 September 2018, the group recognized gain of KD 29,783,996 (2017: KD 31,895,541) from the 
sale of several aircrafts which included gain from sale of newly delivered aircrafts that were sold upon delivery from the 
manufacturer.  

 

During the year ended 30 September 2017, the group recorded impairment loss of KD 7,717,536 to write down the carrying 
value of aircraft to its fair value less costs to sell. Fair value less costs of sell is based on models adopted by the management 
using published reports of aircraft values. The published reports of aircraft values include the value of aircraft in the current 
year considering the model and date of manufacturing of each aircraft using observable inputs such as price of recent sale, 
aircraft supply and demand and other value determinants hence categorized under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
 
5 CAPITAL ADVANCES  

 2018 2017 
 KD KD 

   
At 1 October  127,570,232 80,585,997 
Additional payments 155,071,279 73,873,144 
Transfer to aircraft, engines and equipment (Note 4)                  (46,736,499) (27,102,807) 
Transfer from receivables 1,195,128 -    
Foreign currency adjustment 401,032 213,898 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

 237,501,172 127,570,232 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 
Capital advances represent progress payments made towards the purchase of aircraft and engines. The commitment in this 
respect is disclosed in Note 14. 
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6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows include the following: 
 

 2018 2017 
 KD KD 

   
Cash and balances with financial institutions 11,219,891 10,976,360 
Short-term murabahas (3 months or less from the date of placement) 36,300,944 51,010,654 
 ────────── ────────── 

Cash and cash equivalents 47,520,835 61,987,014 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

 
Short-term murabahas represent short-term deals in international commodity transactions which earn a profit rate of 1.18% - 
2.10% per annum (2017: 0.60% - 1.75% per annum). 
 
7 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 
 
Share capital 
The authorized, issued and fully paid share capital as at 30 September 2018 comprises 952,093,482 ordinary shares (2017: 
952,093,482 ordinary shares) of 100 fils each paid in cash and bonus shares. 
 

On 25 December 2017, the shareholders at the annual general assembly meeting of the parent company approved the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2017 and approved a cash dividend of 10% for the year 
ended 30 September 2017 (30 September 2016: 5%) of par value of each share being 10 fils per share (30 September 2016: 5 
fils per share) amounting to KD 9,520,935 (30 September 2016: KD 4,760,468),which was paid subsequently.  
 

Share premium  
Share premium is not available for distribution. 
 

8 STATUTORY RESERVE   

 

As required by the Companies Law and the parent company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year before 

directors’ fees and contribution to KFAS, NLST and Zakat has been transferred to statutory reserve. The parent company may 

resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve totals 50% of the paid up share capital.    

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of paid up 

share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount. 

 

9 DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 

 2018 2017 

 KD KD 

   

Balance due to financial institutions - financing lease facilities 542,414,510 589,896,405 

Short term financing facilities  98,296,388    30,220,000 

 ──────── ──────── 

 640,710,898 620,116,405 

Less: deferred financing arrangement fees (9,551,334) (8,267,588) 

 ──────── ──────── 
 631,159,564 611,848,817 

 ══════════ ══════════ 
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9 DUE TO FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS (continued) 

 

Obligation under finance lease 

Future minimum lease payments under finance lease agreements together with the present value of the net minimum lease 

payments are as follows: 

 2018  2017 

 Minimum 

payments 

Present value 

 of payments 

 Minimum 

payments 

Present value 

 of payments 

 KD KD  KD KD 

      
Within one year 85,507,166 65,159,549  106,793,706 85,768,342 

After one year but not more than five years 294,809,131 235,975,800  308,682,381 251,181,497 

After 5 years 269,851,435 241,279,161  289,471,107 252,946,566 

 ──────── ────────  ──────── ──────── 
Total minimum lease payments 650,167,732 542,414,510  704,947,194 589,896,405 

Less: amounts representing finance charges (107,753,222) -  (115,050,789) - 
 ───────── ─────────  ───────── ───────── 
Present value of minimum lease payments 542,414,510 542,414,510  589,896,405 589,896,405 
 ═════════ ═════════  ═════════ ═════════ 
  

All financing lease facilities are secured over the aircraft (Note 4) and are denominated in US Dollars.  

 

Changes in liabilities from financing activities: 

 

 

1 October 

2017 

 

Cash inflows 

 

Cash outflows 

  Foreign 

currency 

adjustment 

 

30 September 

2018 

 KD KD KD KD KD 

      

Due to financial institutions - Gross 620,116,405 283,233,045 (264,587,958) 1,949,406 640,710,898 
 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ────────── ─────────── 

Total liabilities from financing activities 620,116,405 283,233,045 (264,587,958) 1,949,406 640,710,898 

 ═══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ ══════════ ═══════════ 

 

 

 

1 October 

2016 

 

Cash inflows 

 

Cash outflows 

  Foreign 

currency 

adjustment 

 

30 September 

2017 

 KD KD KD KD KD 

      

Due to financial institutions - Gross 449,087,316 229,702,220 (59,865,134) 1,192,003 620,116,405 

 ─────────── ─────────── ─────────── ────────── ─────────── 

Total liabilities from financing activities 449,087,316 229,702,220 (59,865,134) 1,192,003 620,116,405 

 ═══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ ══════════ ═══════════ 

 

10 SECURITY DEPOSITS 

  

Security deposits represent amounts paid by the lessees as a security in accordance with the lease agreements. The deposits are 

repayable to the lessees on the expiration of the lease agreements subject to satisfactory compliance of the lease agreements by 

the lessees. 
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11 MAINTENANCE RESERVE AND PROVISIONS 
 

  Balance at   Foreign Balance at 

 1 October  Releases/ currency 30 September 

  2017 Additions utilizes  adjustment 2018 

 KD KD KD KD KD 

      

Maintenance reserve 132,408,411 24,587,639 (30,669,634) 416,241 126,742,657 

Heavy maintenance provisions  8,204,828 17,064,024 (1,674,508) 111,784 23,706,128 

Re-lease provisions 3,118,704 -     (497,695) 9,804 2,630,813 

 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

Total 143,731,943 41,651,663 (32,841,837) 537,829 153,079,598 

 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 

  Balance at   Foreign Balance at 

 1 October  Releases/ currency 30 September 

  2016 Additions utilizes  adjustment 2017 

 KD KD KD KD KD 
      

Maintenance reserve 116,471,406 29,032,393 (13,404,405) 309,017 132,408,411 

Heavy maintenance provisions  -     8,249,355 -     (44,527) 8,204,828 

Re-lease provisions -     3,135,629 -     (16,925) 3,118,704 

 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

Total 116,471,406 40,417,377 (13,404,405) 247,565 143,731,943 

 ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 
 

Maintenance reserve amounting to KD 8,869,906 (2017: KD 8,869,906) is backed by letters of credit issued to a financial 

institution. 

 

12 OTHER LIABILITIES 
 2018 2017 

 KD KD 

   

Operating lease income received in advance 2,400,115 3,717,702 

Accrued expenses 4,397,066 3,598,328 

Commitment deposits 3,287,977 7,192,976 

End of service benefits  1,199,826 809,949 

KFAS, NLST, Zakat, and other tax payable 2,898,233 2,335,787 

Other payables 2,674,581 2,039,989 

 ────────── ────────── 

 16,857,798 19,694,731 

 ══════════ ══════════ 
 

13 OPERATING LEASE INCOME 
 

The future minimum lease rent receivable on the operating lease is KD 724,126,550 (2017: KD 716,743,109) and is receivable 

as follows: 

 2018 2017 

 KD KD 

   

Income receivable within one year 89,806,833 94,252,875 

Income receivable within one year to five years 318,163,285 314,616,631 

Income receivable after five years 316,156,432 307,873,603 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

 724,126,550 716,743,109 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 

14 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
  

There are potential commitments in respect of purchase of aircraft and engines amounting to KD 1,672,763,184 (2017: KD 

1,653,630,845) (Note 5). 
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15 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 

As at 30 September 2018, the group has contingent liabilities amounting to KD 12,120,473 (2017: KD 8,869,906) in respect 

of letters of credit arising in the ordinary course of business from which it is anticipated that no material liabilities will arise. 

 

16 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Related parties represent the major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the parent company, and 

entities controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies and terms of these 

transactions are approved by the parent company’s management. 
 

Significant transactions with related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
 

Consolidated statement of financial position: 

 

 

Bank 

 

Other related 

parties* 

 

2018 

 

Bank 

 

Other related 

parties* 

 

2017 

 KD KD KD KD KD KD 
       

Capital advances  322,097 -  322,097 -  321,088 321,088 

Receivables** 7,521 26,611 34,132 -  33,589 33,589 

Cash and cash equivalents 14,820,069 29,631,644 44,451,713 9,863,309 51,010,654 60,873,963 

Due to financial institutions 95,133,336 -  95,133,336 131,880,080 -  131,880,080 

Other liabilities*** 588,856 -  588,856 297,568 -  297,568 

 

Consolidated statement of income: 

  

Bank 

Other related 

parties* 

 

2018 

 

Bank 

Other related 

parties* 

 

2017 

 KD KD KD KD KD KD 

       

Murabaha income 15,059 818,294 833,353 4,698 506,881 511,579 

Finance costs 3,698,553 -      3,698,553 826,293     -   826,293 

 

 2018 2017 

Key management compensation and directors’ fees: KD KD 

   

Salaries and other short term benefits 1,214,403 1,515,702 

End of service benefits 367,227 152,726 

Directors’ fees 180,000 180,000 

 ──────── ──────── 
 1,761,630 1,848,428 

 ════════ ════════ 
 

Directors’ fees of 180,000 for the year ended 30 September 2018 (2017: KD 180,000) is within the amount permissible under 

local regulation and is subject to approval by the Annual General Assembly of the shareholders. 
 

Directors’ fees of 180,000 for the year ended 30 September 2017 (2016: KD 138,500) were approved by the Annual General 

Assembly of the shareholders held on 25 December 2017. 

 

*     Other related parties represent subsidiaries of the Bank. 

**    Receivables represents accrued murabaha income. 

***      Other liabilities represent the accrued finance costs payable to the Bank. 
 

17 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s assets and liabilities. Maturity of cash and cash equivalents 

and receivables have been determined on the basis of the remaining period from the reporting date to the contractual maturity 

date. The maturity profile for aircraft, engine and equipment and capital advances is determined based on management's 

estimate of liquidation of those assets. The actual maturities may differ from the maturities shown below since borrowers 

may have the right to prepay obligations with or without prepayment penalties. 
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17 MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued) 

 

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 30 September are as follows: 

 

30 September 2018 Less than Over  

 1 year 1 year Total 
 KD KD KD 
ASSETS    

Aircraft, engines and equipment -  829,509,062 829,509,062 

Capital advances -  237,501,172 237,501,172 

Receivables 8,906,295 -  8,906,295 

Cash and cash equivalents 47,520,835 -  47,520,835 

 ────────── ──────────── ──────────── 

Total assets 56,427,130 1,067,010,234 1,123,437,364 

 ══════════ ════════════ ════════════ 
 

LIABILITIES    

Due to financial institutions  128,654,971 502,504,593 631,159,564 

Security deposits 3,015,000 7,901,966 10,916,966 

Maintenance reserve and provisions  8,447,647 144,631,951 153,079,598 

Other liabilities 11,928,532 4,929,266 16,857,798 

 ────────── ─────────── ─────────── 
Total liabilities 152,046,150 659,967,776 812,013,926 

 ══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 

30 September 2017 Less than Over  

 1 year 1 year Total 
 KD KD KD 
ASSETS    

Aircraft, engines and equipment -  883,547,970 883,547,970 

Capital advances -  127,570,232 127,570,232 

Receivables 3,224,856 -  3,224,856 

Cash and cash equivalents 61,987,014 -  61,987,014 

 ────────── ──────────── ──────────── 

Total assets 65,211,870 1,011,118,202 1,076,330,072 

 ══════════ ════════════ ════════════ 

 
LIABILITIES    

Due to financial institutions  102,222,106 509,626,711 611,848,817 

Security deposits  4,749,448 9,562,865 14,312,313 

Maintenance reserve and provisions  3,308,538 140,423,405 143,731,943 

Other liabilities 16,953,848 2,740,883 19,694,731 

 ────────── ─────────── ─────────── 
Total liabilities 127,233,940 662,353,864 789,587,804 

 ══════════ ═══════════ ═══════════ 
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18 SEGMENT INFORMATION  

 

The group is engaged primarily in only one business segment i.e. aircraft leasing segment. However, for management purposes, 

the group is organised into five geographical segments. 

 

30 September 2018 Middle East 

KD 

Asia 

KD 

Europe 

KD 

America 

KD 

Africa        

KD 

Total 

KD 

          

Segment revenue 27,913,398 85,729,307 6,749,486 2,984,285 3,041,916 126,418,392 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Segment results  

  before directors’  

  fees and taxation  (9,730,415) 43,851,800 1,372,667 (920,122) 886,597 

 

35,460,527 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total assets 265,284,441 508,498,738 195,520,208 125,954,274 28,179,703 1,123,437,364 

 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 

Total liabilities 308,877,036 414,254,791 33,902,493 31,018,976 23,960,630 812,013,926 

 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 

Other segmental 

 information: 

      

Depreciation  11,992,833 23,973,577 3,653,592 2,605,896 1,639,922 43,865,820 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Finance costs 7,447,392 12,536,191 1,399,017 409,346 382,210 22,174,156 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Receivables written off 

during the year - 264,462 - - - 264,462 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Capital expenditure 47,939,505 232,887,013 - - - 280,826,518 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 

30 September 2017 Middle East 

KD 

Asia 

KD 

Europe 

KD 

America 

KD 

Africa        

KD 

Total 

KD 

          

Segment revenue 19,016,902 47,039,332 42,756,371 1,415,244 3,582,879 113,810,728 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Segment results  

  before directors’  

  fees and taxation  

 

 

(12,681,941) 

                   

 

13,073,735 

 

 

32,871,122 

 

 

377,957 

 

 

1,293,487 

 

 

34,934,360 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total assets 381,447,477 433,488,108 193,056,003 38,604,069 29,734,415 1,076,330,072 

 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 

Total liabilities 318,220,258 361,009,686 73,111,581 11,095,988 26,150,291 789,587,804 

 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 

Other segmental 

 information: 

      

Depreciation  9,196,370 21,201,520 5,752,164 572,248 1,651,937 38,374,239 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Impairment loss on 

aircraft, engines and 

equipment 7,717,536 - - - - 7,717,536 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Finance costs 2,553,275 10,028,186 2,020,890 199,148 460,460 15,261,959 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Receivables written off 

during the year - 76,522 - - - 76,522 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Capital expenditure 195,344,405     158,718,770 - - - 354,063,175 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
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19 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
Financial instruments comprise of financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 
Financial assets consist of receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Financial liabilities consist of amounts due to financial 
institutions, security deposits and other liabilities. 
 
The fair values of financial instruments are not materially different from their carrying values. 
 
20 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Risk is inherent in the group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and 

monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the group’s continuing 

profitability and each individual within the group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. 

The group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being subdivided into profit rate risk, asset risk, 

foreign currency risk, equity risk and prepayment risk. The group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk, 

prepayment risk and equity risk, because the group’s significant transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in the 

functional currency and no equity instruments. The independent risk control process does not include business risks such 

as changes in the environment technology and industry. They are monitored through the group’s strategic planning process. 

 
20.1 CREDIT RISK  
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to incur a financial loss. Financial assets subject to credit risk consist principally of receivables, term deposits and cash and 
cash equivalents. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount as at the reporting date. 
 
The group’s term deposits, cash and cash equivalents are placed with financial institutions of high repute. Similarly, 
receivables are from parent company’s vendors and airlines of high reputation and are monitored on an ongoing basis.   
 
As at 30 September 2018, the group has an impaired customer with gross exposure amounting to KD 816,777 (2017: KD 
76,522). The amount of provision was KD 264,462 (2017: KD 76,522). 
 
20.2     LIQUIDITY RISK 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with 
financial instruments. The group manages this risk by active cash flow management, short term financing facilities with 
various financial institutions, investment in short term murabahas and generation of funds from its operations. The maturity 
profile is monitored by finance department to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.  
 
Commitments in respect of purchase of aircraft (Note 14) will be funded through the issue of equity, cash generated from 
operations and through bank borrowings, which will be arranged as the cash flow needs arise.  
 
The table below summarises the liquidity profile of the group’s liabilities and reflects the projected cash flows which 
includes future finance cost payments over the life of these financial liabilities.  
 
30 September 2018 Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 More than  
 3 months Months years  5 years Total 
 KD KD KD KD KD 
      
Due to financial institutions  61,085,911   92,664,777   328,910,669   269,851,435   752,512,792  
Security deposits 2,661,992 353,008 2,268,035 5,633,931 10,916,966 
Other liabilities (excluded 
operating lease income 
received in advance) 6,756,201 2,772,216 898,692 4,030,574 14,457,683 
 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  70,504,104 95,790,001 332,077,396 279,515,940 777,887,441 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
Capital commitments  93,481,686   407,808,863   1,046,067,361   125,405,274   1,672,763,184  
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
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20 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
20.2     LIQUIDITY RISK (continued) 

 
30 September 2017 Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 More than  
 3 months months years  5 years Total 
 KD KD KD KD KD 
      
Due to financial institutions 34,260,888 90,836,339     321,894,797   289,471,107  736,463,131  
Security deposits 1,660,006 3,089,442 3,745,525 5,817,340 14,312,313 
Other liabilities (excluded 
operating lease income 
received in advance) 8,014,710 5,221,435 1,544,563 1,196,321 15,977,029 
 ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  43,935,604 99,147,216 327,184,885 296,484,768 766,752,473 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 
Capital commitments 75,821,980 269,056,215 1,308,752,650 - 1,653,630,845 
 ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ ═════════ 

 

20.3  MARKET RISK 

 

Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market variables such as profit rates 

and foreign exchange rates, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment or its issuer 

or factors affecting all investments traded in the market. 

 

20.3.1  Profit rate risk 

Profit rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in profit rates will affect future profitability or the fair values of 

financial instruments. Profit rate risk is managed by the finance department of the parent company.  

  

The group is exposed to profit risk on its floating profit bearing assets and liabilities.  

 

The table below details the group’s exposure to profit rate risk.   

 

The sensitivity of group’s profit for one year is the effect of the assumed changes in profit rates financial assets and liabilities 

held as at the reporting date.   

 

 

Change 

in basis points 

Effect on profit 

for the year 

KD 

   

30 September 2018 ±25 ±29,371 

   

30 September 2017 ±25 ±88,372 

 

Sensitivity to profit rate movements will be on a symmetric basis. 

 

20.3.2 Asset risk 

The group bears the risk of re-leasing or selling the aircraft in its fleet at the end of their lease terms. If demand for aircraft 

decreases market lease rates may fall, and should such conditions continue for an extended period, it could affect the market 

value of aircraft in the fleet and may result in an impairment charge. The group’s management has appropriate experience 

of the aviation industry to manage the fleet and remarket or sell aircraft as required in order to reduce this risk. 

 

The group is highly dependent upon the continuing financial strength of the commercial airline industry. A significant 

deterioration in this sector could adversely affect the group through a reduced demand for aircraft in the fleet and / or 

reduced market rates, higher incidences of lessee default and an increase in aircraft on the ground. The group periodically 

performs reviews of its carrying values of aircraft and associated assets, trade receivables and the sufficiency of accruals 

and provisions, substantially all of which are susceptible to the above risks and uncertainties. 
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21 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

 

The primary objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to 

support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.   

 

The group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by capital.  The group includes within net debt, due 

to financial institutions, less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes total equity add/less foreign currency translation 

reserve. 

 

 

 

2018 

KD 

2017 

KD 

   

Due to financial institutions  631,159,564 611,848,817 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (47,520,835) (61,987,014) 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

Net debt 583,638,729 549,861,803 
 ─────────── ─────────── 
   

Total equity  311,423,438 286,742,268 

Adjust: Foreign currency translation reserve (13,959,649) (12,933,651) 

 ─────────── ─────────── 

Capital 297,463,789 273,808,617 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

Gearing ratio 1.96 2.01 

 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 
 


